
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 29 November 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

Tuesday, 7 December 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Cabinet 
Members: 

 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Waste Services (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 

 

Agenda 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

   
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2021. 

 

(Pages 3 - 8) 

3.   Disclosure of Interests (if any)  
   
 Items for recommendation to Council 

 
4.   Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 

Report of The Deputy Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 9 - 32) 

   
5.   Council Tax Base 2022/23 

Report of The Deputy Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 33 - 40) 

  
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

6.   Deepings Leisure Centre Options 
Report of The Cabinet Member for Leisure. 

 

A Joint meeting of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services & Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

will consider this item on 30 November 2021, which is subsequent to the 

publication of the agenda for this meeting of Cabinet. 

 

A copy of the report due for consideration at the Joint Scrutiny meeting is 

therefore attached to this agenda. An extract of the minutes from that 

meeting, confirming any recommendations, will be published in due course, 

prior to this meeting of Cabinet. 

(Pages 41 - 68) 

   
6(a)  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 

public may be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business, 

on the grounds that if they were to be present, exempt information could be 

disclosed to them as defined in paragraph 1 & 2 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 

   
6(b)  Deepings Leisure Centre Options - Exempt appendices (Pages 69 - 202) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
7.   Asset Disposal Programme to Support Growth 

Report of The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property. 
(Pages 203 - 207) 

   
8.   Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 

Report of The Cabinet Member for Leisure. 
(Pages 209 - 241) 

   
 Items for information 

 
9.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers  

   
10.   Cabinet's Forward Plan 

Report of The Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 243 - 249) 

   



 

 

Minutes 
 

Cabinet 
 

Tuesday, 9 November 2021, 14:00 
  

Council Chamber – South Kesteven House,  
St Peter’s Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 
 

The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 
Cabinet Members present  
 

 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing  
 

 

Members in attendance 
 

Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Officers in attendance  
 

 

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer) 
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance (s151 Officer)) 
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services (Deputy Monitoring Officer)) 
Claire Moses (Head of Revenues and Benefits) 
Phil Moore (Special Projects Manager) 
Debbie Roberts (Interim Organisational Development Manager) 
Phil Swinton (Health and Safety, Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Lead) 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change Officer) 
Patrick Astill (Communications) 
Alex Woolf (Communications and Policy Officer) 
Shelley Thirkell (Acting Principal Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 

46. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
All Cabinet Members were present, as expected. 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

47. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2021, were AGREED as a correct 
record of the decisions taken. 
 

48. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
There were none.  
 

49. Rectory Farm Development Brief 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

To consider the Rectory Farm Development Brief and make recommendations to full 
Council. The Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) set out the 
Council’s expectations for a high quality, inclusive and sustainable place which 
reflected and responded to local character, alongside the design process. 
 

Decision 
 

That the Cabinet endorsed the Rectory Farm Development Brief and recommended 
its adoption by full Council. 
 

Options considered and rejected 
 

1. To recommend full Council adopt the Rectory Farm Development Brief as a 

guidance note, rather than an SPD. 

2. To do nothing and recommend full Council do not adopt the Rectory Farm 

Development Brief either as an SPD or as a guidance note. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

The document helped shape the Council’s ambitious plans for the District and 
provided assurance of high quality design. The improvements would support green 
infrastructure, addition of new cycle ways, walkways and sustainable transport 
measures. It would bring a great benefit to the local community.  
 

50. Draft Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

To seek Cabinet’s endorsement to take the revised Design Guidelines for Rutland 
and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to full Council for 
adoption. 
 

The Design Guide set out the Council’s design expectations for high quality, inclusive 

and sustainable places which reflected and responded to local character alongside 

the design process to achieve those. It also provided detailed guidance for the design 

of commercial areas to meet best practice.  

 

 

4



 

 

Decisions 
 

1. That Cabinet endorsed the report and Design Guidelines for Rutland and South 
Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document and noted the Consultation 
Statement. 

2. That Cabinet recommended full Council adopt the Design Guidelines for 
Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document. 

Options considered and rejected 
 

To recommend full Council withdraw the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South 
Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

Members agreed that the Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document would 
provide great benefit South Kesteven’s communities, setting out clear design 
expectations. It was acknowledged that South Kesteven was a special part of the 
United Kingdom, as such a Design Guide would support the development of 
emerging communities which reflected that, helping achieve the aspirations of the 
Council’s Corporate Priorities.  
 

51. Material Change in Circumstances - Business Rates Relief package 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

To provide an overview of Material Change in Circumstances and the Business 
Rates Relief package which was linked to the Rating (Coronavirus) and Directors 
Disqualification (Dissolved Companies) Bill 2021-22. 
 

Decisions 
 

Approved the delegation to the Council’s Section151 Officer in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader to develop and implement a scheme of funding distribution that met 
the legislative requirements. 
 

Options considered and rejected 
 

Do nothing 
 

Reason for decision 
 

It would ensure that the Council distributed the funds in line with the legislative 
requirements.  
 

52. Stamford Special Expenses Area 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

Cabinet was asked to recommend the transfer the assets currently being charged to 
the Stamford Special Expense Area (SEA) to Stamford Town Council thus removing 
the requirement for the Stamford Special Expense Area to continue. 
 
 

5



 

 

 
 
 

Decisions 
 

1. Approved the freehold transfer of Empingham Road playing field and Uffington 
Road playing field to Stamford Town Council, subject to the disposal 
requirements in accordance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 

2. Approved the transfer date from 1, April 2023 thus removing the Stamford 
Special Expense Area from that date. 

 

3. Approved the transfer of the balance of the Stamford Special Expense Reserve 
to Stamford Town Council upon completion of the asset transfer. 

 

4. Authorised officers to continue discussions with Stamford Town Council to 
consider the transfer of other Council owned assets over the medium term. 

 

Options considered and rejected 
 

Do not transfer the SEA open space assets and the credit balance held in the SEA 
reserve to Stamford Town Council. The assets would remain in the ownership of the 
Council and the Council would continue to be responsible for managing and 
maintaining the assets. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

Ensured that the local community would have control over their assets. Stamford 
Town Council would be able to access funds not available at District Council level, to 
make improvements for the Community.  
 

53. Health and Safety Policy 2021 - 2023 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

This report presented the updated Health and Safety Policy. This updated policy 
ensured compliance with the Council’s legal duties and covered the period 2021-23. 
The Council’s Health and Safety Policy was a statement of intent and commitment to 
managing any risk that may arise from its undertakings. 
 

Decisions 
 

Approved the contents of the Health and Safety Policy for the period 2021-23. 
 

Options considered and rejected 
 

The requirement for the Authority to have a Health and Safety Policy was determined 
by statute, therefore no other options were available for consideration. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

Ensured that the Council, as a large employer within the District, met its legal and 
moral obligations to its employees. The Policy helped to mitigate a wide variety of 
workplace risks, within its wide variety of services. It was important to the Council to 
support and invest in the wellbeing if its employees.  
 

6



 

 

 
54. Allocation of the Welcome Back Fund 2021/22 

 
Purpose of the report 
 

To approve the activities to benefit from the Reopening High Street Safely Fund 
budget and the additional funds provided by the Welcome Back Fund to enable the 
funded activity to be procured. 
 

Decisions 
 

1. Accepted the Welcome Back Fund grant from the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities of £252,909 and approved the necessary 
amendments to the General Fund revenue budget framework. 

 

2. Accepted the grant funding agreement terms and conditions, as set out by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

 

3. Delegated authority to the Director of Growth and Culture, in consultation with 
The Leader of the Council, to implement the associated action plan which 
supported activities consistent with the scope of funding. 

 

Options considered and rejected 
 

That Cabinet reject the grant funding offered. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

To support local business and communities within South Kesteven, the plans for the 
fund would help achieve the aims within the Council’s Corporate Plan.  
 

55. Customer Feedback Policy 2021 
 
Purpose of the report 
 

To seek approval of a new Customer Feedback Policy to align to the Housing 
Feedback Policy, which was approved by Cabinet in July 2021. 
 

Decisions 
 

Cabinet approved the new Customer Feedback Policy and Customer Feedback 
Appendix 1- Vexatious complaints. 
 

Options considered and rejected 
 

To continue with the existing 3 stage Customer Feedback Policy, formed in 2013. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

Ensured that all officers would follow the same processes and timelines, aligning with 
the Council’s Housing Feedback Policy. It provided an open and transparent way for 
members of the public to make a compliment, complaint or put forward feedback.  
 
 
 
 

7



 

 

56. Climate Matters 2021 Annual Statement 
 
The Cabinet welcomed the South Kesteven District Council’s second annual Climate 
Change and Carbon Reduction Statement, which had been reviewed and approved 
by the Council’s Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
Members were encouraged at the progress the authority had made towards reducing 
its net Carbon emissions, with a reduction of 24.85%. Initiatives had been put in 
place to help further the reduction of emissions; improvements to Council properties 
away from gas sources, upgrading street lighting to energy efficient LED bulbs, 
integrating trees lined streets in future developments and was hoped to see trees 
back into the Town Centres, creating a green environment.  
 
The Leader acknowledged that work was still be done towards its goal of being net 
zero carbon by 2050. It was hoped that future innovations in technology and updated 
planning legislation for new properties, would contribute towards that achievement.  
 

57. Finance Update Report: April - September 2021 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council noted that the report was the 2nd Budget 
Monitoring report considered by Cabinet, it was designed to advise the current 
position and projections of the Council’s Budget.  
 
The Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee had been assisting with the continual scrutiny and review of the Budget, 
which would feed into Budget setting for 2022/23.  
 
Cabinet noted the forecast 2021/22 outturn position for the General Fund and HRA 
Revenue and Capital budgets, as at the end of September 2021. 
 

58. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
The Leader advised that an extraordinary meeting of full Council would be scheduled 
in December 2021, to discuss a way forward on The Deepings Leisure Centre.  
 
Cabinet noted the contents of its Forward Plan for the period 25 October 2021 – 24 
October 2022. 
 

59. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property drew Members’ attention to Appendix 
A. He advised that the refurbishment of the Meres Leisure Centre lift was anticipated 
to be completed in late December 2021, once the remaining parts, for the repair, had 
been delivered.  
 
The Cabinet noted the decisions that were taken under delegated authority.  
 

60. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:40. 

8



 

 

 

Cabinet 

7 December 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  The Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 

This report reviews the Council’s Local Council Tax Support Scheme in advance of the 2022/23 
financial year. 
 

Report Author 

Claire Moses (Head of Revenues and Benefits) 

 
 01476 406210 ext. 6484 

  claire.moses@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council  Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance and ICT) 16 November 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance & s151 
Officer) 

17 November 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (The Deputy Leader of the 
Council)  

24 November 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
for 2022/23 is based on the same overarching criteria as the current year scheme 
as detailed in paragraph 1.11 and 1.12. 

2. Cabinet is asked to include the continuation of the £20,000 Discretionary Payment 
fund for 2022/23 in their budget proposals.  

 

9

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council Tax Benefit system was abolished on 31 March 2013 and replaced by the 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS). This scheme can be determined locally by the 

Billing Authority having had due consultation with precepting authorities, key stakeholders, 

and residents.  

1.2 There are currently 7,918 residents claiming Council Tax Support in the South Kesteven 

District. Of these, 3,223 are pensioners and 2,657 are vulnerable working age, who are 

protected under the legislation and receive Council Tax support as prescribed by the 

Government (broadly similar to the level of Council Tax Benefit). It is the 2,068 remaining 

working age claimants where a local scheme can be determined which can change the 

level of support provided 

1.3 The Council agreed to a Council Tax Support scheme which came into effect on 1 April 

2013. The scheme currently provides 80% entitlement for working age claimants 

1.4 The proposed scheme must go through specific steps to comply with the provisions stated 

in the Local Government Finance Act 2012 before it can be adopted by this Council as the 

Billing Authority: - 

Before making a scheme, the authority must (in the following order): - 

(a) consult any major precepting authority which have power to issue a precept to it 

(b) publish a draft scheme in such a manger as it thinks fit; and 

(c) consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the 

operation of the scheme 

1.5 Despite the scheme being a ‘local’ CTS scheme due to the nature of protection provided 

to pensioners and vulnerable working age customers, there will always be an element of 

cost that the Council has to incur and for which it has no influence over. 

1.6 The current caseload can be broken down as follows, to show those customers where the 

scheme changes would apply: 

Caseload breakdown Caseload % of caseload 

Total caseload 7,918 100% 

Pensioner 3,223 40.70% 

Working age vulnerable 2,627 33.18% 

Working age 2,068 26.12% 
 

1.7 In order to try and contain the cost of the 2022/23 scheme within the budget parameters, a 

number of options were modelled and considered.  

1.8 Based on caseload as at 31 October 2021, the current cost of the 2021/22 scheme is 

£7,212,424 with South Kesteven’s share of this being £649,118 (9%). The current cost of 

the scheme and the financial impact of changes to the claimant base and increases to the 

annual Council Tax charge is shown in the table below: 

 

10



 

 
 

Current 
Scheme cost 

Cost to SKDC 
(as 9% of the 
Council Tax 
bill) 

Caseload increase per 
1% - Additional Cost to 
SKDC 

Council Tax (£) 
increase per 1% - 
Additional Cost to 
SKDC 

£7,212,424 £649,118 £12,982 £13,704 
 

This shows how very small changes to the scheme from both Council tax annual amount 

increases, and the claimant numbers have a significant financial impact. 

1.9 Due to this protection from changes to pensions and vulnerable working age customers, 

any ‘savings’ to be made to the proposed scheme can only be applied to the 2,068 

customers, or 26.12% of the caseload. This means out of the current Council spend of 

£649,118 – only £169,549 (26.12%) can be influenced by a change to the current scheme. 

1.10 The reality is that out of the options modelled the only one that may reduce spend against 

budget is to decrease the ‘maximum entitlement’ – e.g. to reduce the maximum CTS 

customers can receive from the current position of 80%. The consultation included a 

question with regards to the level of maximum entitlement, asking consultees whether they 

agreed with the current scheme, of which 81.82% of respondents did agree. 

Current Local Council Tax Support Scheme – 2021/22 

1.11 The current scheme has the following restrictions to working age customers: - 

(i) Maximum entitlement capped at 80%; 

1.12 The current scheme has the following amendments to Council tax technical restrictions for 

all Council Tax Payers; 

(i) Introduction of additional premium charges for empty properties 

1. Empty up to two years – premium of 100% 

2. Empty between two and five years – premium of 200% 

3. Empty after 10 years – premium of 300% 

(ii) Unoccupied discount of 100% for the first month; 

(iii) Care leavers council tax exemption – 100% for those aged between their 18th and 

25th birthdays; and 

(iv) Special Constabulary discount scheme of 25%. 

Council Tax Support scheme options – 2022/23 

1.13 As a billing authority, the Council can decide whether or not to amend core elements of its 

scheme each year.  

1.14 There will be some technical changes that will still need to be applied to ensure that the 

Council’s scheme complies with the Prescribed Scheme Regulations (covering Universal 

Credit, premiums and discounts). These details are still outstanding from the Department 

for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC). 

1.15 Technical amendments to the scheme in relation to uprating, applicable amounts, 

disregards and allowances are to be collated once statutory details have been released by 

the Secretary of State; it is intended that these will be circulated to Members for 

consideration at the Council meeting in January 2022. There will be no change to the 

11



 

 
 

adopted policy in the way CTS is calculated for these areas.  Officers have considered if 

there is any need for any transitional arrangements to the revised scheme and concluded 

transitional arrangements are not needed for the 2022/23 scheme. 

Key Findings from the public consultation 

1.16 There were a total of 8,236 surveys, and of these, 308 were returned – this is a rate of 

3.74%. Appendix 1 shows responses from the consultation, with key findings detailed 

below: - 

(a) 252 or 81.82% of respondents support the current scheme; 

(b) 271 or 87.99% of respondents support the continuation of the Discretionary Payment 

fund; 

(c) 225 or 73.05% of respondents support the continuation of a Council Tax exemption 

for care leavers; and 

(d) 158 or 51.30% of respondents support the introduction and continuation of a Council 

Tax discount for Special Constables 

(e) There were two questions asked, which enabled the respondent to provide 

commentary –– these being 1) How do you feel you will be affected by these 

proposals & 2) Do you have any other comments. These have been grouped into 

common themes: - 

(i) I have no comments; 

(i) Do you consider medical issues for vulnerability; 

(ii) Don’t agree with Special Constable discount; 

(iii) I don’t wish to pay extra to support others; 

(iv) The support received is helpful; 

(v) I won’t be affected; 

(vi) Without Council Tax Support I would suffer hardship; 

(vii) The scheme is very helpful for those of working age who are genuinely 

suffering financial difficulties; and 

(viii) Everyone should be treated equally, and not have different rules 

Major Preceptors 

1.17 There is a requirement to consult with major preceptors when developing proposals for the 

2022/23 scheme. This is a requirement as any Council Tax discount has a financial impact 

on all the major precepting authorities. The responses to the consultation are provided at 

Appendix 2 (Lincolnshire County Council) and Appendix 3 (Police and Crime 

Commissioner PCC). 

1.18 The Police and Crime Commissioner have been consulted and are supportive of the 

current scheme remaining in place, with the existing criteria for 2022/23. The Police and 

Crime Commissioner have asked the Council to consider the continuation of the Special 

Constabulary discount scheme for 2022/23. 

1.19 Lincolnshire County Council have been consulted and are supportive of the current 

scheme remaining in place, with the existing criteria for 2022/23. Lincolnshire County 

12



 

 
 

Council are also supportive of the proposed continuation of the Special Constabulary 

Discount Scheme. 

1.20 If the proposal to continue the Special Constabulary Discount is approved, the discount 

would be awarded through Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  This 

provides the Council with discretionary power to discount the amount of council tax that is 

payable to use on a case-by-case basis or to specify a specific class where several 

council tax payers fall into a group due to similar circumstances. 

1.21 The Collection Fund Regulations require that the Billing Authority funds the amount of any 

discretionary award made under Section 13A(1)(c) in full, by making a transfer payment 

from its General Fund to the Collection Fund of the amount of the award. This means that 

Council is effectively paying the shares of the Council Tax that are allocated to the County 

Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and any Parish Council. The precepting 

authorities will be required to reimburse South Kesteven District Council at the end of each 

financial year. 

(a) Partner organisations were also advised of the proposed scheme – include Citizens 

Advice; and 

(b) Major preceptors – Police and Crime Commission and Lincolnshire County Council. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to consider the proposed scheme in advance of the 2022/23 financial 

year.  The options were presented to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 3 December 2021, however, at the time of 

writing this report, the Committee have not met and as a result, a verbal update will be 

presented on 7 December 2021. 

2.2 The timetable to approve any change to the new scheme is set out below and considers 

the existing calendar of meetings.  The full Council as Billing Authority needs to approve 

the scheme after consultation as outlined in paragraph 1.4. 

2.3 The Council meeting takes place on 27 January 2022 where a decision is required, 

seeking approval of a final 2022/23 scheme for implementation from 1 April 2022.  The 

Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires a full review of the scheme by the Billing 

Authority. South Kesteven District Council will need to approve the scheme by no later 

than 31 January 2022. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Options considered as set out in the report and supporting appendices. The current 

scheme information is detailed in paragraph 1.11 and 1.12 of this report.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is to retain the existing scheme having regard for overall financial 

constraints of the Authority and the associated support the scheme provides to its recipients.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 These are set out in the report. 

 

 

13



 

 
 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

8.1 Following the recommendation from Cabinet, the scheme will be presented to Council in 

January 2022 for approval. 

7 Financial Implications  

9.1 The actual cost of the discount scheme for 2022/23 will not be known for certain until the 

end of the financial year and will be dependent on the actual caseload in year as well as 

the levels of Council Tax set by the District Council and the major precepting authorities.   

9.2 An indicative range of costs based on various scenarios for 2022/23 has previously been 

provided to inform the proposed changes for consultation. 

9.3 The estimated cost of the scheme, based on current caseload, is taken into consideration 

when calculating the Council’s tax base for the financial year and will impact on the 

estimated Council Tax yield for the year. Any difference in the actual cost of the discount 

scheme to that estimated in the tax base calculation will be accounted for within the 

Collection Fund and will be considered when future years surpluses or deficits are 

declared.  

9.4 The Discretionary Payment fund of £20,000 made available during 2021/22 will continue 

to be available into 2022/23. 

9.5 Should the Council wish to approve the proposal of the continuation for Special 

Constabulary Discount for Police Special Constables, this will be a direct cost to the 

General Fund. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

10.1 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012, laid 

before Parliament on 22nd November 2012, set out the regulations for a default scheme 

and this was adopted by the Council subject to local policy needs in January 2013.  The 

Secretary of State has issued amendment regulations setting out some changes that must 

be adopted by the Council for pensioners and the Council had also decided in 2013 to 

keep the schemes allowances and premiums in line with those for Housing Benefit for 

working age claimants.  These are incorporated into amendments to the local scheme for 

approval by the Council. 

10.2 The regulations for the scheme proposed to be adopted are to be collated and made 

available for Council in January 2022. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services Officer 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

11.1 The Authority is required to undertake an Equality Impact Assessment as part of its 

obligations under the Equality Act 2010 and is shown in Appendix 4. The scheme is being 

amended in line with statutory requirements and uprating the financial allowances. 

 

 

14



 

 
 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

12.1 The Council, along with the other preceptors, bears the risk of the cost of the Council Tax 

Support scheme should caseload increase cause the cost to increase more than 

predicted. 

12.2 Any revisions to the scheme must be approved by 31 January 2022. 

12.3 The scheme cannot be changed mid-year and therefore it is vital the correct scheme is in 

place. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

13.1 None 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

14.1 None 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

15.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

16.1 A full report was presented to Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 29 June 2021 and 20 July 2021 where it was agreed 

financial modelling of the proposed changes for consultation would be undertaken and 

presented to the Committee. A further report was presented to Cabinet on 14 September 

2021, agreeing to recommendations for consultation. A final report was presented to 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 3 December 2021 to review the outcome of the public consultation. 

16.2 The reports can be accessed here 

(a) 29 June 2021 report – item 7: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4146 

(b) 20 July 2021 report - item 6: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4147 

(c) 14 September 2021 report – item 6: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g4148/Public%20reports%20pac

k%2014th-Sep-2021%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 

15 Appendices 

17.1 There are four appendices to this report, as detailed below: 

(a) Appendix 1: Public consultation – key findings 

(b) Appendix 2: Lincolnshire County Council consultation response 

(c) Appendix 3: Police and Crime Commissioner consultation response 

(d) Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment 

15

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4146
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4147
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g4148/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Sep-2021%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g4148/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Sep-2021%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Council Tax Support Consultation – 2022/23 Scheme 

Overall, 308 respondents completed the Council tax Support consultation 

questionnaire 

The Council Tax Support Scheme: 

Q1: Central to SKDC’s Council Tax Support Scheme are two principles. These are:  

• A cap of 80% on entitlement for all applicants of working age. This means 

anyone of working age eligible for help paying their Council Tax will be 

entitled to claim for help with up to but no more than 80% of their bill. 

• Pensioners and vulnerable persons eligible for help paying their Council 

Tax are protected by legislation.  
 

Do you agree with these principles? 
 

Yes No Don’t know 

252 30 26 

81.82% 9.74% 8.44% 

 

 
 

The Discretionary payment Scheme: 

Q2: South Kesteven District Council also operates a Discretionary Payment Scheme. 

This scheme has been designed to offer additional support to those struggling to pay 

their Council Tax and offers limited short-term assistance to those in receipt of Council 

Tax Support who need further help.  

The Council is proposing that this scheme should continue to operate.  

Do you support this proposed scheme? *  
 

Yes No Don’t know 

271 14 23 

87.99% 4.55% 7.47% 

   
 

252

30 26

Question 1

Yes No Don’t know

17



 

 
 
 
Exemption for young people leaving the care system: 
 
Q3: In South Kesteven all young people leaving the care system are currently exempt 
from paying Council Tax in properties they rent or own, until they are 25.   
 
The Council is proposing to continue to apply this exemption. 

Do you support this proposed scheme? *  
 

Yes No Don’t know 

225 47 36 

73.05% 15.26% 11.69% 

 

 

Special Constable Discount scheme: 

Q4: In South Kesteven, Special Constables are able to make an application for a 25% 
Council Tax discount.  
 
Do you think scheme should continue in 2022/23? 
 

Yes No Don’t know 

158 93 57 

51.30% 30.19% 18.51% 

271

14

23

Question 2

Yes No Don’t know

225

47
36

Question 3

Yes No Don’t know

18



 

 
 

 
 

Q4 & 5: How do you feel you will be affected by these proposals & do you have any 
other comments – common themes from responses are shown below: 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

158

93

57

Question 4

Yes No Don’t know

I have no 

comments 

Do you consider 

medical issues for 

vulnerability 

I wont be 

affected The support 

received is 

helpful 

Everyone should 

be treated equally, 

and not have 

different rules 

The scheme is very 

helpful for those of 

working age who are 

genuinely suffering 

financial difficulties 

Without Council 

Tax Support I 

would suffer 

hardship 

I don’t wish 

to pay extra 

to support 

others 

Don’t agree with 

Special Constable 

discount 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 

Dear Richard 
 
Thank you for your letter inviting Lincolnshire County Council to comment on the 
SKDC Council Tax Support Scheme proposals for 2022/23. 
 
We have no comments or objections on the proposals, which suggests no changes 
to the current scheme. 
 
Pending the decision from the PCC, Lincolnshire County Council will continue to 
support the PCC scheme providing discount for Special Constables, in those 
Districts which are supportive of the scheme. 
 
Kind regards, Michelle 
 
Michelle Grady 

Assistant Director Finance 
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL 
 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 
 
 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Council Tax Support Scheme 
2022/23 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Revenues and Benefits  
 

Lead officer: 
 Claire Moses 

Date of Meeting  
 
11/11/21 Assessors: 

Bridget Chesterfield 
 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

25



 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

In January 2021, the meeting of Council approved South Kesteven District 
Councils Council Tax Support (CTS) Scheme for 2021/22. 

The Council must review and reapprove its CTS scheme each year as part 
of its budget setting process and make any necessary changes from 1 
April 

There are currently 8,104 residents claiming Council Tax Support in the 

South Kesteven District. Of these, 3,259 are pensioners and 2,672 are 

vulnerable (working age, who are protected under the legislation and 

receive Council Tax support as prescribed by the Government (broadly 

similar to the level of Council Tax Benefit). It is the 2,173 remaining 

working age claimants where a local scheme can be determined which can 

change the level of support provided. The level of support currently 

provided is capped at 80% entitlement for all applicants of working age. 

This means anyone of working age eligible for help paying their Council 

Tax will be entitled to claim for help with up to but no more than 80% of 

their bill. Pensioners and vulnerable persons eligible for help paying their 

Council Tax are protected by legislation.  

 

This equality analysis relates specifically to the support available to those 
2173 working age claimants. 

For Council Tax Support purposes, a vulnerable group is where: - 

• You or your partner receive a War Pension / War Widows Pension 

• Someone in the household is entitled to a Disability Premium 
(inclusive of enhanced and severe disability premiums) 

• A child in the household qualifies for a disabled child premium 

• You, your partner, or a child in your household receives Disability 
Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment. 

• You or your partner qualifies for disabled earnings disregard 

• You or your partner qualifies for a Carer Premium / or have 
underlying entitlement to Carers Allowance 

• You or your partner receive Employment and Support Allowance 
that includes the Support Component 

• You or your partner receive the Disability Element in your Working 
Tax Credit 

• You or your partner are in receipt of the higher rate of the Limited 
Capability for Work Element in your Universal Credit 

 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  

26



 

 

 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive impact – working age 
 
Neutral impact – pension age 
 
 
 
 

Currently, the are no proposed 
changes to the scheme and as 
a result, there would be no 
negative impact to this group. 
 
For working age, there could 
be a risk to those of working 
age (and not deemed as 
vulnerable as defined by the 
Secretary of State or by South 
Kesteven District Councils 
scheme). 
 
Pensioners are a protected 
group for the purposes of the 
Council Tax Support scheme, 
so will not be financially 
affected.  Therefore the 
reduction in support will be 
borne by the reminder of those 
in receipt of Council Tax 
Support. 
 

Disability 
 

 

Neutral 
 
 

People with a mental health 
condition or a learning 
disability may be particularly 
vulnerable to changes in 
council tax support. National 
evidence shows that these two 
groups are less likely to be 
employed and may not see 
help for financial difficulties. 
 

27



 

 

The scheme recognises these 
difficulties and protects them 
from any changes. 
 
There is no impact as the 
group is deemed as 
‘vulnerable’ and are protected 
from any changes to the 
scheme. 
 

Race 
 

Neutral Residents from the EU who 
have not been granted settled 
status are excluded from 
provision by statute but race 
itself does not have any effect 
on the application of the 
scheme  
 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 

28



 

 

characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to 
anincome and capital means 
test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 
criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Carers Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not determine or have 
influence on any decision 
made under this scheme as its 
eligibility is specific to an 
income and capital means test  
If a person who identifies 
under this protected 
characteristic meets the 

29



 

 

criteria of the scheme they 
would be eligible for support  
 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Neutral All persons who qualify under 
the terms of the scheme are 
eligible for support regardless 
of background 

General 
comments 

 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Information used from the Revenues and Benefits software system. This 
provides all information relating to current Council Tax Support awards and 
enables officers to model potential changes to awards. 
 
All recipients of Council Tax Support have been advised of the proposed 
scheme for 2022/23 and have been invited to provide a response to the 
proposals via an online survey (paper forms are available upon request) 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

There will be no gaps as all affected will have been consulted with 
 

 
 

30



 

 

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

Currently the consultation of the scheme is based on ‘no change’ 
 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

All residents in receipt of Council Tax Support 
All South Kesteven District Council Members 
All South Kesteven District Parish Clerks 
Citizens Advice South Lincs 
Local media informed 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 

31



 

 

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Claire Moses 
(Name and title)   Head of Revenues and Benefits 
  

Date completed:  11/11/21  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Senior Community Development Officer 
 

Date signed off:     11/11/21  
 

32



 

 

 

Cabinet 
7 December 2021 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

Council Tax Base 2022/23 

To recommend the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2022/23. 
 

Report Author 

Claire Moses (Head of Revenues and Benefits) 

 
 01476 406210 ext 6484 

  claire.moses@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A high performing Council Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance and ICT) 16 November 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance & s151 
Officer) 

16 November 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the 
Council) 

16 November 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Cabinet is asked to recommend to full Council the Council Tax base for the 
forthcoming financial (2022/23) year equating to 48,706.7 in accordance with the 
relevant legislation.  

33

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by s84 of the Local Government Act 

2003 set out the requirements allowing each local authority to make its own arrangements 

for adopting the Council Tax base. The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012:2914) provides amended statutory guidance to 

incorporate the changes resulting from the introduction of the Local Council Tax Support 

Scheme (LCTSS). 

1.2 The Council Tax Base forms part of the calculation for the council tax for the local area; 

the number of properties that will form the Council Tax Base must therefore be agreed. 

1.3 As well as setting out the requirement that the Council Tax Base be calculated, statute 

also sets out the timeframe in which this must be completed. The Council is required to 

inform its preceptors of the Council Tax Base by 31 January 2022. 

1.4 The council tax varies between different bands according to proportions laid down in 

legislation. These proportions are based around Band D and are fixed so that the bill for a 

dwelling in Band A will be a third of the bill for a dwelling in Band H. Applying the relevant 

proportion to each band’s net property base produces the number of ‘Band D’ equivalent 

properties for the area. 

1.5 In determining the Council Tax Base for 2022/23 the following factors have been taking 

into considerations: 

(a) The tax base for parish purposes is based on the number of properties as at 13 
September 2021 and the discounts and exemptions applicable on 4 October 2021, 
as prescribed by legislation; 

(b) An adjustment for the impact of the local Council Tax Support Scheme that has been 
adopted by South Kesteven District Council; 

(c) An adjustment for the empty property premium, which allows South Kesteven District 
Council to charge a premium of between 100% and 300% depending upon the 
period the property has remained empty. 
 

1.6 The table below summarises the position showing the proposed tax base for South 

Kesteven for 2022/23 is 48.706.7 Band D equivalents. This is an increase of 1.21% on the 

previous financial year 2021/22. Appendix 1 analyses these figures at Parish level. 

Table 1: Tax Base – Band D Equivalents 

 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 218/19 2017/18 2016/17 

Impact of empty  
property premium 

110 131 128 137 125 131 125 

Total Band D 
equivalents 

52,663.2 52,170.4 51,757.0 51,061.9 50,575.5 50,306.5 49,779.57 

Impact of LCTSS 
Discounts and 
Work Incentive 

(3,956.5) (4,048) (3,838.2) (3,936.2) (4,056.2) (4,187.1) (4,344.87) 

Total Band D 
Equivalent 
properties 

48,706.7 48,122.4 47,918.4 47,125.7 46,519.3 46,119.4 45,434.7 

Tax Base Growth 1.21% 0.4% 1.68% 1.30% 0.87% 1.49% 1.54% 

34



 

 
 

 Adjustment for the Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 

1.7 The localisation of Council Tax Support which was introduced from 1 April 2013 has a 

direct impact on the setting of the Council Tax base. 

1.8 The Council Tax base must therefore be adjusted to include the impact of the Localised 

Council Tax Support scheme that has been adopted by South Kesteven District Council. 

1.9 For 2022/23, the reduction to the Council Tax base has increased in comparison to 

previous years as a result of an increase in eligible claimants during the period of the 

pandemic. 

1.10 As set out in Table 1, the LCTSS reduces the tax base and therefore the Council tax 

income collected by individual precepting bodies. 

 Adjustment for empty property premiums 

1.11 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 first introduced the power for local authorities to 

charge a premium of up to 50% where a property was left unoccupied and unfurnished.   

1.12 The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 

2018 allowed Councils to increase these premiums in line with legislation from 1 April 

2019 and each year thereafter for a further two years. 

1.13 The Council Tax Base is increased as a result of the empty premium which allows a billing 

authority to charge a premium on properties left unoccupied and unfurnished.  These 

premiums are as follows: - 

(a) Up to 100% premium for properties empty between two and five years – resulting in 
a full charge of 200%; 

(b) Up to 200% premium for properties empty between five and ten years – resulting in a 
full charge of 300% 

(c) Up to 300% premium for properties empty for at least ten years – resulting in a full 
charge of 400% 
 

1.14 As set out in Table 1, the empty property premium increases the tax base and therefore 

the Council tax income collected by individual precepting bodies. 

 Other Discretionary Discounts 

1.15 The Council has the power under the Local Government Act 2003 to implement other local 

discounts. 

1.16 Discounts would be granted either to individuals or to classes of individuals.  There are 

financial implications to granting any discounts in addition to those set out in legislation.  

Not only would there be an increase in the general level of Council Tax for other payers, 

but the complication and cost of administering council tax would increase. 

 Collection Rates 

1.17 The setting of a realistic and prudent collection rate for Council Tax in 2022/23 is an 

essential component of the overall budget strategy. 

1.18 It is anticipated that a collection rate of 98.50% will be achieved in 2021/22 and this will 

form the basis of the collection rate for 2022/23. 

1.19 The Council takes a prudent approach and does not project future growth in 2022/23, so 

consequently, does not adjust the tax base for any non-collection. The following table 

35



 

 
 

shows both the current and historic collection rates the council has achieved over the past 

five years: 

Table 2: Collection Rates 

 2022/23 2021/22 

(forecast) 

2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Council Tax 
Collection 
Rate 

98.75%* 98.50% 98.40% 98.68% 98.77% 98.81% 

*this will be reviewed in response to the impact of the pandemic 

 Impact on Local Precepting Authorities’ 

1.20 The above factors impact on the local precepting authorities’ (Parish and Town Councils) 

ability to raise their own precepts which, based on a standstill position, would be lower.  

1.21 The local tax base information will be supplied to all Parish and Town Councils in order for 

them to facto it into their local precept setting considerations. 

1.22 It can be seen from Table 1 that there has been a positive increase in the tax base growth 

from previous years and this will provide a positive financial contribution to the Medium 

Term Financial Plan.  At an assumed Council Tax level for 2022/23, the increase in the tax 

base will result in an additional £94k Council Tax income than had been previously 

modelled in the MTFP. This has been factored in the budget setting proposals that are 

currently being considered 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 None – this report contains technical calculations for the council’s tax base for 2022/23 as 

prescribed by legislation. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 None. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 It is recommended that the Council Tax Base is set at 48,706.7 for 2022/23. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 If the recommendation is supported, it will be used in the calculation and budget 

preparations for 2022/23. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 None. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 These are contained within the report.  Setting the tax base is an important milestone in 

the annual budget setting process and allows the Council to project the anticipated 

Council Tax that will be collected for the following financial year. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

 

36



 

 
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The approval of the Council Tax Base detailed in this report is required in accordance with 

the legislation referred to in Section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, which 

sets out the requirements for council tax setting which can be discharged by full Council.  

8.2 The proposals in this report will be considered by Council at its budget setting meeting 

scheduled for 1 March 2022. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The report contains the calculation of the Council Tax Base for 2022/23 as prescribed by 

legislation. 

9.2 The resultant impact on revenue budgets are addressed within the budget setting process. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The Council Tax Base is set using a formula set down in legislation, which is then used to 

inform financial planning and the budget setting process. 

10.2 No risks have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 None. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – 2022/23 Council Tax Base by Parish. 

 

 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

2022/23 Council Tax Base by Parish

Parish/Town Council

2022/23 

Band D 

Equivalents

2021/22 

Band D 

Equivalents Variance

Grantham combined 11,287.0 11,161.1 125.9

Stamford combined 7,372.9 7,296.3 76.6

Bourne Combined 5,878.3 5,783.1 95.2

Allington 353.0 349.4 3.6

Ancaster 584.2 581.6 2.6

Aslackby 109.2 110.9 (1.7)

Barholm & Stowe 43.6 37.5 6.1

Barkston and Syston combined 249.2 247.6 1.6

Barrowby 729.2 725.7 3.5

Baston 620.6 610.3 10.3

Belton & Manthorpe 205.8 209.6 (3.8)

Billingborough 490.1 486.4 3.7

Bitchfield 56.9 53.2 3.7

Boothby Pagnell 63.2 63.2 0.0

Braceborough & Wilsthorpe 140.3 142.4 (2.1)

Braceby, Humby, Ropsely, Sapperton combined 329.4 322.7 6.7

Burton Coggles 40.3 39.8 0.5

Careby 76.6 78.4 (1.8)

Carlby 211.6 209.8 1.8

Carlton Scroop and Normanton combined 126.3 126.1 0.2

Castle Bytham 314.4 302.8 11.6

Caythorpe & Frieston 543.9 526.4 17.5

Claypole 510.4 512.8 (2.4)

Colsterwoth, Gunby & Stainby, North Witham combined 755.5 754.9 0.6

Corby Glen & Birkholme 411.0 406.9 4.1

Counthorpe & Creeton 26.4 25.2 1.2

Deeping St James 2,524.2 2,448.9 75.3

Denton 121.0 122.6 (1.6)

Dowsby 55.4 55.6 (0.2)

Dunsby 51.4 51.1 0.3

Easton and Stoke Rochford combined 80.2 84.5 (4.3)

Edenham 114.7 112.7 2.0

Fenton 59.8 58.6 1.2

Folkingham 282.6 283.2 (0.6)

Foston 221.6 222.0 (0.4)

Fulbeck 216.5 218.2 (1.7)

Greatford 130.5 129.6 0.9

Great Gonerby 747.2 746.1 1.1

Great Ponton 124.3 124.1 0.2

Haconby & Stainfield 195.1 187.2 7.9

Harlaxton 346.3 349.0 (2.7)

Heydour 154.6 156.2 (1.6)

Honington 64.0 60.9 3.1

Horbling 161.4 164.5 (3.1)

Hougham 83.4 88.1 (4.7)

39



Hough-on-the-Hill 174.8 169.6 5.2

Ingoldsby 120.8 121.2 (0.4)

Irnham 103.2 108.6 (5.4)

Kirkby Underwood 80.9 81.1 (0.2)

Langtoft 761.3 757.0 4.3

Lenton 63.7 65.7 (2.0)

Little Bytham 114.6 116.4 (1.8)

Little Ponton & Stroxton 68.5 70.4 (1.9)

Londonthorpe & Harrowby without combined 1,678.7 1,653.9 24.8

Long Bennington 963.1 943.8 19.3

Market Deeping 2,295.2 2,244.7 50.5

Marston 152.7 151.6 1.1

Morton & Hanthorpe 843.3 830.9 12.4

Old Somerby 91.3 93.1 (1.8)

Pickworth 79.2 76.1 3.1

Pointon 198.5 198.3 0.2

Rippingale 350.4 347.2 3.2

Sedgebrook 152.0 148.8 3.2

Skillington 137.3 134.9 2.4

South Witham 473.5 471.0 2.5

Stubton 78.8 77.8 1.0

Swayfield 147.9 149.9 (2.0)

Swinstead 83.0 80.6 2.4

Tallington 347.4 335.6 11.8

Thurlby 826.1 811.3 14.8

Toft Lound & Manthorpe 139.4 137.6 1.8

Uffington 315.3 311.5 3.8

Welby 78.7 85.1 (6.4)

Westborough & Dry Doddington 145.6 142.9 2.7

West Deeping 117.5 116.7 0.8

Witham-on-the-Hill 96.6 98.1 (1.5)

Woolsthorpe 143.9 143.4 0.5

Wyville cum Hungerton 20.0 20.4 (0.4)

Total by Billing Area 48,706.7 48,122.4 584.3

40



 

 
 

 

 Joint Scrutiny Meeting 
  26 November 2021 

Report 
of: 

       Councillor Barry Dobson 

         Portfolio Holder for Leisure 

         
  

 

Deepings Leisure Centre Options 

Due to significant health and safety concerns, Deepings Leisure Centre, has been temporarily 
closed since July 2021. At an extraordinary meeting of Council on 2 September 2021, it was agreed 
that options to provide leisure in the Deepings area would be assessed at a joint meeting of Culture 
and Visitor Economy and Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. It was agreed these two Committees would jointly make a recommendation 
on the preferred option to Cabinet, prior to consideration by Council. 

 

 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 

 
07976 854538 

 karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Key Deeping St James 

 

Reviewed by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 23 November 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 24 November 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Portfolio Holder for Leisure 25 November 2021 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

1. Notes the feasibility work undertaken to establish options for leisure provision in the 
Deepings. 

2. Recommends to Cabinet a preferred option for leisure facilities to meet the local 
needs in the Deepings area. 

41

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report  

1.1 The South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan (2020-2023) recognises the role 

facilities can play to inspire residents to take part in sport and physical activity. Of equal 

importance is the Council’s commitment to providing (directly and in partnership with others) 

leisure facilities to enable all the South Kesteven community to lead healthy lives by 

participating in a wide range of activities. There are four leisure centres in the Council’s 

portfolio. The subject of this report is the Deepings Leisure Centre which was temporarily 

closed in July 2021 on health and safety grounds.  

1.2 The existing Deepings Leisure Centre was built and opened in 1974. Since that time, it has 

been managed by South Kesteven District Council (the Council), although the land and 

building are owned by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC). 

1.3 There have never been any formal leasehold arrangements in place between the two 

organisations and therefore the respective responsibilities of each organisation have not 

been documented. The facility is shared with Deepings School (part of the Anthem Trust) 

who have previously had the use of the sports hall, playing fields and swimming pool during 

the day term-time. This was in return for an annual fee, which in 2021/22 was £35,600. 

1.4 Historically the fee received from the school was complemented by a maintenance 

contribution from LCC in the region of £124,000. This was withdrawn in 2014 when LCC 

notified the Council that the land and leisure centre building were to be transferred to the 

Anthem Trust as part of the academy transfer process. Following the successful completion 

of the transfer, the Council were advised that it would be necessary to secure a leasehold 

interest directly with the Trust. 

1.5 To date, the transfer between LCC and Anthem Trust has never been completed, although 

this is currently being progressed. Since 2014 there have been numerous attempts to agree 

the proposed terms of a lease between the Trust and the Council which could be put in 

place once the main land and asset transfer had been completed. Unfortunately, agreement 

on terms was never reached. 

1.6 Since 2014, the Council have been solely responsible for the maintenance and repair of the 

leisure centre. Prior to the closure of Deepings Leisure Centre, for the financial year 

2021/22, the facility was projected to make a small surplus, however this did not take into 

account the Council’s wider costs in relation to the centre. Details of the projected financial 

position have been included in Appendix One – Exempt Information. 

Previous Feasibility Work Undertaken: 

1.7 The potential refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre has been previously considered by 

the Council in 2013. At that time, Paul Weston and Caston Cost Consultants were engaged 

to identify schemes of refurbishment should a lease of the building be secured. Two options 

were identified as below: 

Full refurbishment of 

existing building 

£6.46 million 

Light touch refurbishment £2.94 million 

 

1.8 As part of the options appraisal in 2013, it was anticipated that, without investment, the 

existing leisure centre would close in 2016. It was not possible to take forward either of the 

42



 

 
 

two schemes of refurbishment due to the transfer between LCC and the Anthem Trust 

having not been completed.  

1.9 In October 2018 Mace Ltd were commissioned on behalf of the Council by InvestSK, to 

undertake an initial assessment of all four of the leisure centres and identify opportunities 

for improvement. 

1.10 Upon receipt of the initial Mace report, Cabinet were presented with a report on 7 March 

2019 titled Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone. This report included the results 

of the early feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd and a range of options for the 

development and refurbishment of the Council’s four leisure centres. A further budget was 

secured and in April 2019 Mace Ltd were reappointed to undertake a full feasibility study 

and develop an investment plan. 

Mace Feasibility Study: 

1.11 The feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd included the development of options for the 

improvement of the leisure facilities and associated costings. The aspiration was for three 

new leisure centres in Grantham, Stamford and Deepings, and for a refurbishment of 

Bourne Leisure Centre. The options for Grantham were later refined to include a 

refurbishment of the existing Grantham Meres Leisure Centre, rather than relocating this to 

a town centre location which had previously been considered. The total cost of this feasibility 

work undertaken by Mace Ltd was £284,000. 

1.12 The Council received the finalised feasibility report from Mace Ltd in February 2020, the 

report contained costed options for redevelopment and refurbishment including: 

- A range of options for Bourne and Stamford, ranging from re-modelling to a new build 

- Two options for a new leisure centre in Deepings  

- Re-modelling and refurbishment of Grantham Meres 

1.13 The report by Mace Ltd also included contract procurement options, and business cases 

which demonstrated the impact of the proposed improvement works on the financial 

performance of the leisure centres. The report concluded:  

a. That if the Council were to rely on prudential borrowing alone to fund the 

developments, then none of the schemes under consideration were affordable.  

b. A minimum total capital investment of circa £55.5 million would be required to fund the 

lowest cost option at each location.  

1.14 In consideration of this, and as part of the report conclusions, Mace Ltd recommended to 

the Council that it should look to rationalise its leisure portfolio, retaining only two leisure 

centres, one in the North and one in the South of the district. 

Project Governance: 

1.15 In May 2020, to ensure there was a robust structure around the work and decisions made, 

a leisure project team was developed with representation from key Council service areas. 

At the time this included the Chief Executive, Strategic Director for Growth, Section 151 

Officer, Director of Law and Governance and Head of Leisure. 

1.16 A Leisure Improvement Board was also developed to include key Members of the Cabinet. 

This includes the Leader, Cabinet Member for Leisure, Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Resources and Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy. Then as now, it remains 

43



 

 
 

the responsibility of this Board to assess the progress of the leisure improvement 

programme and make recommendations to Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet.  

Full Member Briefing: 

1.17 On 20 October 2020, a briefing was given to all Members to provide an update on the leisure 

improvement plans and the feasibility work which had been undertaken across all four of 

the Council’s leisure facilities. Information was provided on the scale of the work involved 

and the challenges the Council faced in terms of affordability. 

1.18 On the advice of the Leisure Improvement Board, Members were advised that the 

improvement schemes would need to be prioritised, and that Deepings had been identified 

as the key priority due to its age and condition. 

Paul Weston Architect: 

1.19 In May 2020 the Council commissioned Paul Weston Architect to provide a check and 

challenge to the original feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd, and to explore alternative 

options which could prove more affordable.  

1.20 As the work developed, the Council were also supported by Sports and Leisure Consultancy 

Ltd (SLC) who provided an assessment of the local and latent demand for a new facility for 

the Deepings, and to assist with the development of business plans which would be required 

to support any investment. 

1.21 Working with Members of the Leisure Improvement Board, Paul Weston and SLC undertook 

work to investigate a range of options for the replacement of Deepings Leisure Centre. The 

preferred location of the development had previously been identified in September 2019 as 

the Linchfield Road playing field site in Deeping St James. Therefore, this site was used as 

the basis for most of the feasibility work. 

1.22 To assess the need for the proposed facility and the level of facilities to be provided, 

evidence was collated from latent demand reports. In addition, the Council undertook some 

work with Sport England using their Facility Planning Model. This model looks at the 

demographic make-up of an area, any projected population growth, and the impact of other 

competing facilities before determining an appropriate accommodation mix for a new facility, 

ensuring that what is proposed would meet current and future need. Taking this into account, 

Paul Weston prepared two original schemes and a site masterplan which included the 

following facilities: 

- A 25 metre six lane community pool (the second option included and 25 metre 8 lane 

pool with a moveable floor) 

- A 13 x 7 metre teaching pool 

- An 80-station fitness gym 

- Two multi-purpose studios to accommodate fitness classes 

- A four-court sports hall 

- Ancillary changing, storage and administrative accommodation 

- A full size 3G artificial pitch 

- External changing accommodation for teams and officials 

- Retention of grass pitches 

44



 

 
 

1.23 Caston Cost Consultants provided capital costings for the two schemes. At the time the total 

development costs were assessed and have been included in Appendix One – Exempt 

Information. 

1.24 To take on board the ambition of Members, a further scheme was considered to include an 

8-lane 25 metre pool, with the addition of spectator seating, the capacity to hold events in 

the sports hall, and to include a steam and sauna area. The total development costs of the 

revised scheme were assessed and have been included in Appendix One – Exempt 

Information. 

Financial Modelling and Business Plan: 

1.25 To assess the viability of the schemes under consideration, financial modelling was 

undertaken to identify how the development of a new leisure centre for the Deepings could 

be financed. SLC were also commissioned to develop an operational business case for the 

facility to understand how this would affect the Council’s General Fund revenue position.  

1.26 The key findings of this work were: 

- The latent demand information, combined with the findings of the Sport England Facility 

Planning Model report, supported that there was a demand for a swimming pool facility 

to replace the existing facility at the Deepings. However, a reduced amount of water 

space would be sufficient to meet this demand which could be catered for by providing 

a 25-metre pool with a moveable floor. 

- There was an oversupply of fitness stations in the Deepings area meaning the new 

facility would need to compete to gain market share. However pre-Covid there were 

approximately 1,000 members at Deepings Leisure Centre, demonstrating a 

considerable membership base was achievable. 

1.27 A 10-year business plan was developed for a new 8-lane, 25-metre leisure centre to include 

the additional facilities detailed in paragraph 1.24. The business plan assumed that the 

leisure centre would be managed by LeisureSK Ltd, that normal trading conditions had 

returned post COVID-19 and was developed through a mix of industry benchmarks and 

calculations on current income levels. Information is provided in Exempt Background Paper 

3 – SLC Report Replacement for Deepings Leisure Centre Business Plan. 

1.28 Originally, when identifying funding options, several scenarios were investigated, including 

utilising 100% borrowing to fund the development, or a mix of borrowing, Local Priority 

Reserves, and capital receipts. However, it should be noted, due to the subsequent impact 

of COVID-19, and the depletion of the Council’s Local Priority Reserves, the only current 

viable option is for the Council to borrow the full amount required. 

1.29 In addition to this, prior to COVID-19 it was the Council’s ambition to procure a new leisure 

contract arrangement which would deliver a significant income stream to the authority. The 

ongoing implications of COVID-19 have resulted in market failure and leisure operators are 

no longer able to offer these types of contract arrangements.  

1.30 The work demonstrated that the surplus provided by the proposed centre alone could not 

cover the borrowing costs, and that the proposed development would result in a significant 

General Fund revenue pressure for the Council. 

1.31 Within the conclusion of their report, SLC highlighted that the proposed centre was larger 

than required in terms of local demand and suggested that some of the proposed areas of 

the scheme, which increased the initial capital outlay required yet would produce minimal 

45



 

 
 

financial return, could be reconsidered. These areas included the events space, spectator 

seating and the steam and sauna facility. An alternative facility mix was suggested for a 

smaller scale centre which would be more in keeping with the current and future demand of 

the Deepings. SLC suggested that this should include: 

- 6 lane 25m swimming pool with moveable floor 

- 60 station gym 

- 2 studios – 150 sqm each 

- 4 court sports hall 

- 3G pitch and relocated grass pitches. 

1.32 SLC further advised that the costs associated with this smaller development would be close 

to the original feasibility scheme proposed (as detailed at paragraph 1.23 in Appendix One 

– Exempt Information) yet could still return an annual surplus. Thereby making this a more 

affordable option for the Council to consider. 

50 metre Pool Option: 

1.33 To ensure that all options and aspirations had been explored, the Leisure Improvement 

Board commissioned further feasibility work to consider an option to include a 50-metre pool 

within the development and to assess whether this could be more viable.  

1.34 In completing this work, Paul Weston revisited the site masterplan and floor plans previously 

produced to include a 50-metre pool. Caston Cost Consultants provided the capital costs to 

ensure consistency. The total development cost was compared to the 25-metre scheme 

Details of the associated capital costs have been included in Appendix One – Exempt 

Information. 

1.35 SLC revisited the previously assessed demographic and latent demand information to see 

if there was sufficient demand within the local area to support a 50-metre pool development. 

They also refined the 10-year operational business plan to take account of any improvement 

to the income position and the associated expenditure. 

1.36 A summary of the findings and associated business plan was considered by the Leisure 

Improvement Board in September 2020. The 50-metre option was discounted at this time, 

the reason for this included the following five considerations: 

- There was insufficient latent demand for casual swimming and swimming lessons within 

the local area to justify a 50-metre pool. 

- The Sport England Facility Planning Model identified there was already an over-supply 

of water in South Kesteven without the addition of a larger pool. 

- Very few 50 metre pools across the country produce a surplus, the average deficit of 

existing facilities at the time was £671,108. 

- The operational business plan produced identified that a 50-metre scheme would require 

the Council to provide an annual subsidy, rather than receive a surplus. Details of the 

annual projected subsidy are provided in Appendix One – Exempt Information. This 

subsidy would also be further increased by the additional borrowing costs associated 

with the increased capital investment. 

46



 

 
 

- The footprint of the scheme would be larger and would result in the loss of playing fields 

on the Linchfield Road site. As a statutory planning consultee Sport England confirmed 

they would object to this. 

Alternative site – Landis & Gyr Building Market Deeping: 

1.37 In late 2020, an opportunity arose to explore an alternative site for a new leisure centre for 

the Deepings. The Landis & Gyr building is in a prominent position on the Northfield 

Industrial Estate in Market Deeping. The incumbent occupiers had indicated that they were 

due to vacate the site in April 2021. In conversation with the agents at the time, there was 

a possibility for the Council to either lease or purchase the building. 

1.38 Paul Weston, Caston Cost Consultants and SLC were commissioned to undertake a 

feasibility study on the site and to compare the resulting merits against the previously 

explored Linchfield Road scheme. The work undertaken included proposals to remodel the 

building to accommodate a leisure facility, determining: 

- The cost of refurbishment 

- An assessment of the catchment area and latent demand 

- The operational business plan 

- Analysis and comparison of the two schemes. 

1.39 The study found that there were some advantages to the Landis & Gyr site, particularly in 

relation to the established entrance and service access points, and the provision of over 

300 car parking spaces. The building, although 13 years old, was found to be constructed 

to a good standard.  

1.40 A site masterplan was developed together with floor plans. These demonstrated that the 

building could be redeveloped to accommodate the required leisure facilities previously 

identified. However, the footprint of the building was larger than the Council’s requirements 

and the modifications required to the building would be significant. The following would need 

to be addressed: 

- The height of the building internally was much higher than a traditional swimming pool 

which would lead to higher energy costs. 

- The warehouse area was unsuitable for a swimming pool environment and would need 

to be upgraded including the treatment of exposed steelwork to withstand a pool 

environment. 

- The cladding of the building would need to be replaced to allow access for heavy plant 

and would need to be replaced with panels and a suitable inside lining for a pool hall. 

- It would be necessary to break through the concrete slab to form the new pool tanks, 

pool surround and plant area. 

1.41 At the time, the capital redevelopment costs associated with the Landis & Gyr option were 

assessed and compared to the new build option at Linchfield Road. Details are provided in 

Appendix One – Exempt Information.  

1.42 As the building is located on an industrial estate away from the town centre, a limited number 

of dwellings were found to be within walking distance. Nevertheless, the site offered good 

connectivity to transport routes to serve a wider catchment area. However, it was 

47



 

 
 

acknowledged that a leisure development at this location would be some distance from the 

existing sports facilities at Linchfield Road playing fields.  

1.43 The study identified significant planning issues which affected the viability of the Landis & 

Gyr site which had been designated as employment land within the Local Plan. As such any 

change of use would need to take account of policies E4 and E6 of the Local Plan: 

1.44 Policy E4 provides protection for the site as employment land to ensure the continued 

provision of locally important employment uses. 

1.45 More importantly, Policy E6 states that the Council will seek to retain and enhance existing 

areas of employment land unless it can be demonstrated that: 

- the site is vacant and no longer appropriate or viable as an employment site, this may 

include the need for an effective, robust and proportionate marketing of the land and 

buildings to be undertaken; or 

- redevelopment would maintain the scale of employment opportunities on the site, or 

would deliver wider benefits, including regenerating vacant or unutilised land; or 

- the alternative use would not be detrimental to the overall supply and quality of 

employment land within the district; or 

- the alternative use would resolve existing conflicts between land uses. 

1.46 Given that, at that time, the site was still occupied, and therefore no other alternative 

employment opportunities had been explored, or the site appropriately marketed, this was 

considered to be a significant barrier. 

1.47 SLC prepared an operational business plan to compare the income and associated running 

costs of a leisure centre on the Landis & Gyr site. The assumptions made were the same 

as the Linchfield Road business plan to enable a like-for-like comparison, with the following 

adjustments: 

- Income was reduced by 3% because of less residents being able to walk to the facility 

- The updated capital costs were used 

- Due to the age of the existing building, repairs and maintenance costs were increased 

by 23% 

- Given the excessive height of the pool hall and sports hall spaces, utility costs were 

increased by 10%. 

As a result of this work, the key variances between the 10-year operational business plan 

for the Landis & Gyr facility when compared to the Linchfield Road scheme were assessed. 

This information has been provided in Appendix One – Exempt Information. The table below 

provides a comparison of the Landis & Gyr and Linchfield Road schemes and the associated 

advantages and disadvantages of each: 

 

 

 

 

 

48



 

 
 

 Landis & Gyr Site 

 

Linchfield Road Site 

Location 

Advantages • The building is on a 

prominent location on a 

major road accessible 

by car  

• Building near the existing facility and 

customer base 

• Substantially more houses in walking 

distance 

• Nearer to schools 

• Adjacent to 3G pitch enabling joint 

management. 

Disadvantages • Limited number of 

houses in walking 

distance to the site 

• Existing customer base 

using Deepings LC 

would be potentially 

disturbed due to the 

change of location 

• 3G pitch would be at 

the existing site and 

require separate 

management and 

security resources. 

 

Planning 

Advantages 
 

• No significant issues with planning 

identified. 

Disadvantages • Change of use would 

not be compliant with 

Council planning 

policy. An exceptional 

case would have to be 

made to achieve 

planning consent 

 

Existing Building Size 

Advantages • The site would allow 

for future growth of the 

leisure facilities. 

• The Council can build a facility to a 

size that meets local demand. 

Disadvantages • The building is far too 

big for the proposed 

sport and leisure brief 

• The building is higher 

than required for the 

new use and this will 

require additional 

 

49



 

 
 

maintenance and 

energy costs 

• Alternative income 

generating uses and 

better access would 

need to be agreed to 

justify the surplus 

space. 

Existing Building Layout 

Advantages 
 

• A new build will enable the Council to 

have the optimum layout for the new 

facility. 

Disadvantages • The locations of 

internal columns in the 

centre of the 

warehouse and at first 

floor office level limit 

layout options 

 

Site Layout 

Advantages • The car park and 

service access 

provision are to a high 

standard and have 

been well maintained. 

• Site layout can be tailored to the 

Council’s requirements. 

Disadvantages   

Cost 

Advantages • The total development 

cost for the conversion 

of the building plus its 

purchase cost was less 

than the development 

costs of a new build. 

• 10-year whole life 

costs likely to be 

slightly lower than 

Linchfield Road site. 

 

Disadvantages • It would not be 

possible to spread the 

payments over 50-

years for an existing 

building making the 

annual repayments 

much higher for the 

Landis and Gyr rebuild. 

• Higher building costs  

• Slightly higher 10-year whole life 

costs. 

Life Cycle Cost 

50



 

 
 

Advantages  • Lower lifecycle costs for new build. 

Disadvantages • Life cycle/replacement 

costs will be higher 

than a new build 

because some of the 

existing materials will 

already be 

approximately 15 years 

old before construction 

commenced. 

 

Energy Efficiency 

Advantages 
 

• New build facility will be able to utilise 

the latest energy conservation 

technology and building design 

• This site will enable more residents to 

access the facility through walking 

and cycling. 

Disadvantages • Many parts of the 

building are 15 years 

old and not built to 

modern energy 

efficient specifications 

• This site will require 

more car visits and the 

associated 

environmental impact 

of this. 

 

Delivery 

Advantages • The construction 

period for a remodel 

option would be 

quicker than a new 

build. We estimate that 

a saving of about 6 

months could be 

achieved. 

 

Disadvantages 
 

• Construction period 6-months longer 

than Gyr & Landis site 

 

1.48 The Leisure Improvement Board considered the feasibility report and concluded that, 

although there were some advantages to the Landis & Gyr option, including the reduced 

capital outlay, the significant disadvantages including the impact of the reduced borrowing 

term, and the planning barrier made the scheme unviable.  

 

 

51



 

 
 

Smaller Facility for Deepings: 

1.49 During the feasibility work previously undertaken the Council had been advised that there 

may be insufficient demand for a leisure facility of the scale and size previously proposed 

for the Deepings. In a bid to make a leisure centre development more affordable, and to 

fully assess all options, SLC were commissioned to produce a business plan for a smaller 

scale leisure facility which would be more in line with local demand and would require less 

capital outlay. Taking the evidenced community need into account it was proposed that the 

smaller replacement facility should include: 

- 6 lane 25m pool with full moveable floor 

- Spectator seating for 100 people 

- 4 court sports hall 

- 80 station health and fitness gym 

- 200 sqm multi-purpose studios x 2 

- Changing provision for both indoor and outdoor activities 

- Café 

1.50 To ensure a consistent approach, SLC used Paul Weston Architect and Caston Cost 

Consultants to assess the capital cost of the smaller scheme. In addition, Caston Cost 

Consultants updated the capital cost of the larger scheme to reflect the latest inflation 

estimates to ensure a like for like comparison. The capital costs of the two schemes have 

been included in Appendix One – Exempt Information  

Impact on Business Plan: 

1.51 Exempt Background Paper 6 – Replacement of Deepings Leisure Centre, January 2021 

provides details on the projected annual income and expenditure of a smaller leisure facility. 

Also provided is the projected annual surplus of the facility, and the impact on the Council’s 

revenue budget if this was to be financed by prudential borrowing over a 50-year term. 

1.52 This work demonstrated that, even though a smaller scale facility in Deepings would require 

less capital outlay and be more in keeping with local demand, the development could not 

be delivered on a cost neutral basis for the Council and would still result in a significant 

annual revenue pressure. 

Summary of Feasibility Work Undertaken: 

1.53 Appendix One – Exempt Information contains a table which summarises the impact of each 

of the options on the Council’s finances. The capital cost of each scheme has been inflated 

to account for the rising cost of construction materials as a result of the ongoing impact of 

COVID-19.  The table details the cost of borrowing, the level of income each centre is 

projected to achieve, the Council’s wider costs and identifies the annual impact on the 

Council’s finances. 

Temporary Closure of Deepings Leisure Centre: 

1.54 On 29 July 2021, in consideration of the significant health and safety risk to the public and 

staff, the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 

Member for Leisure, made the decision to temporarily close Deepings Leisure Centre using 

the emergency powers available under Article 16 of the Constitution. 

52



 

 
 

1.55 As the owner of the building LCC were notified and subsequently carried out an initial 

condition survey. This originally identified circa £1.2 million of work would be required to 

rectify some of the issues which had been identified.  

1.56 As the operator of the leisure centre the Council were aware of further works which would 

be necessary yet had not been identified within the condition survey procured by LCC. Given 

that they were familiar with the existing leisure centre, Paul Weston and Caston Cost 

Consultants were commissioned to provide an opinion on the findings of the condition 

survey provided by LCC, to identify appropriate costs for the additional works required, and 

to give consideration to how the life of the building could be extended by 25-years. These 

findings were reported to Council on the 2 September and are included in Appendix One – 

Exempt Information.  

1.57 Whilst Deepings Leisure Centre has remained closed the Council have continued to 

maintain Linchfield Road Playing Fields and these have remained available for hire by the 

local community and Deepings School.  

1.58 The closure of the sports hall has impacted on the operation of Deepings School who are 

reliant on having a sports hall available as part of the delivery of their curriculum, and for 

use as an exam hall. To compensate for the loss of the sports hall the Anthem Trust have 

applied for planning permission for a temporary facility which will remain in place until such 

time as a decision is made on the future of Deepings Leisure Centre.  The Council believes 

that an order has already been placed for the temporary facility. 

1.59 Customers of Deepings Leisure Centre have been encouraged to use one of the Council’s 

three other leisure centres within the district. 

Refurbishment Options: 

1.60 Following the meeting of Council, Paul Weston Architect, together with Caston Cost 

Consultants and SLC were commissioned to bring forward refurbishment options to include 

the associated capital costs and operational business plan. 

1.61 The appointments were made in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 

and with the advice and guidance of the Council’s Procurement Officer. The table below 

details how each piece of consultancy work was secured: 

Contractor Procurement Route 

Paul Weston (incl costings Direct award – under Council limit 

SLC Appointed via ESPO framework 

Survey Solutions Direct award – under Council limit 

Caston Chartered Surveyors Direct award – under Council limit 

 

1.62 To inform the work undertaken the following surveys have been carried out on the existing 

leisure centre: 

- Topographical survey 

- Measured building survey 

- Utility and drainage survey 

- Building condition survey 

53



 

 
 

- Drone roof survey 

1.63 The recommendation made by Council on the 2 September 2021 was that any 

refurbishment scheme should enhance the life of Deepings Leisure Centre. To enable the 

Council to spread any borrowing over the maximum period, Paul Weston was again 

requested to provide options which would provide an additional lifespan of 25 years.  

1.64 Across all options considered it should be noted that the condition survey has identified that 

further investigation is required to the corroded concrete reinforcement in the basement 

plantroom before costs can be finalised. There are also the following points to consider: 

- The condition survey has assumed that the various roof deck materials cannot be 

repaired and provide an additional life of 25-years. In consideration of this the design 

team agree with the survey findings that it is likely the roof decks will have been damaged 

by water penetration and a full replacement will be required. 

- The condition survey has also assumed that the external cladding will need to be 

replaced rather than recoated. 

1.65 Three options were initially identified for consideration, these being: 

- A basic refurbishment of the existing facilities and rectification of the items identified in 

the condition survey 

- A basic refurbishment of the existing facilities and rectification of the items identified in 

the condition survey, with the addition of enhanced gym space 

- A complete remodelling of the existing leisure centre to include the rectification of 

condition survey items and to provide enhanced leisure provision in line with the facilities 

previously identified for a new build facility. 

1.66 Within this report each of the options identified above have been compared to the evidenced 

community need for a leisure facility in the Deepings area, as described in paragraph 1.49. 

Under each option a table has been provided which demonstrates how each option meets 

the identified need, or any resulting gaps in provision. 

1.67 In addition to the condition survey items identified it has been necessary to also add in the 

costs for the following works to each option, these works are conditional on the Anthem 

Trust providing a lease to the Council: 

- Carrying out repairs and resurfacing of the car park 

- Providing a new incoming water main from Park Road to replace the existing supply 

which is routed through the school premises 

- Sub-metering of the electrical supply which is supplied through the school building 

- The installation of bollards adjacent to the entrance gate to the car park to prevent 

access when the facility is closed. 

1.68 A copy of Paul Weston’s Deepings Leisure Centre Options Study has been provided at 

Exempt Appendix Two to this report. This contains a detailed breakdown of the capital costs 

for each option. Exempt Appendix Three provides the supplemental information for a further 

option considered. 

1.69 SLC have provided an operational business plan for each of the options considered and a 

copy of their report has also been provided at Exempt Appendix Four. 

 

54



 

 
 

Deepings Leisure Centre Facilities: 

1.70 The existing leisure centre has the following facilities: 

- 25 metre 6 lane pool 

- 11.5 metre learner pool 

- Spectator seating for 150 

- 33.5 metre sports hall 

- Health and fitness gym with 25 fitness stations 

- Four squash courts (one of which has been re-purposed as a spin studio) 

- Cafe 

- Changing accommodation 

1.71 Most of the facilities are based on the ground floor, with the health and fitness gym, café, 

and spectator seating being situated on the first floor. This results in a large area of the first 

floor being under-utilised. 

Option A – Basic Refurbishment  

1.72 Option A, whilst providing an additional lifespan of the building for 25-years, purely 

addresses the items noted for rectification within the condition survey. The total amount of 

the works identified in the condition survey report are detailed in Appendix One – Exempt 

Information. However, this does not include for the additional works which are required by 

the Anthem Trust, details of the costs associated with these works has also been provided 

in Appendix One – Exempt Information.  

1.73 Under this option no changes to the building layout have been proposed and there would 

be no enhancement in terms of activities. A breakdown of the total projected build and 

project costs, the projected annual income, which has been assessed by SLC, and the 

Council’s wider costs are included in Appendix One – Exempt Information.  

1.74 A basic refurbishment of the current centre falls short of the identified future need, as 

summarised in the table below, the gaps in provision being identified in red: 

 

Area Future Need Option A Facilities 

Pool Hall 25m x 6 lane pool with moveable 
floor 

25m x 6 lane pool 0.85m – 1.8m 
deep 

11.5m x 6.5m learner pool 0.75m 
deep 

Spectator Seating 100 seats 150 seats at gallery level 

Health and Fitness Gym 80 station fitness gym 400 sq m 31 stations (25 stations at first floor 
and 6 stations in converted squash 
court). Total 144 sq m approx 

Multi-purpose studios 2 x 200 sq m studios with storage No studios. 1 converted squash 
court 66 sq m being used as a 
spinning studio 

 Sports Hall 4 court 34.5m x 20m sports hall 4 court 33.5m x 18m sports hall 

 

55



 

 
 

Option B – Basic Refurbishment and Enhanced Gym Provision: 

1.75 This option picks up the works identified in the condition survey and partly addresses the 

shortfall in facilities by converting the existing four squash courts to an 80-station fitness 

gym at ground level and introducing a first-floor mezzanine.  

1.76 The existing gym could be retained and re-purposed as a studio, although its use would be 

limited due to the small size (approximately 75 sq m) and the structural columns which would 

need to be retained. The windows, which currently overlook the sports hall, would be 

replaced by a solid partition wall with a mirrored face in the studio. 

1.77 The costs and associated business case for this option are included in Appendix One – 

Exempt Information. This refurbishment option offers a slight improvement when assessed 

against the identified need as summarised in the table below, again the deficiencies are 

identified in red: 

 

Area Future Need Option B Facilities 

Pool Hall 25m x 6 lane pool with moveable 
floor 

25m x 6 lane pool 0.85m – 1.8m 
deep 

11.5m x 6.5m learner pool 0.75m 
deep 

Spectator Seating 100 seats 150 seats at gallery level 

Health and Fitness Gym 80 station fitness gym 400 sq m 80 station fitness gym on ground 
floor and mezzanine converted 
from existing squash courts 

Multi-purpose studios 2 x 200 sq m studios with storage Existing 75 sq m gym converted to 
a very small studio 

 Sports Hall 4 court 34.5m x 20m sports hall 4 court 33.5m x 18m sports hall 

 

Option C – Full Remodelling and Refurbishment: 

1.78 Under Option C a full range of remodelling and refurbishment options has been identified to 

address the following: 

- Meeting the identified community needs 

- Providing a financially sustainable facility 

- Improving energy use and costs 

- Providing a facility which the Council and its customers can be proud of 

1.79 In establishing the full range of options, Paul Weston has assessed each area of the building 

and established a range of options and costs for possible alternative uses. Caston Cost 

Consultants have then identified the cost of refurbishment and remodelling each area. The 

full list of options has then been compared against the optimum facility mix previously 

identified by SLC to establish whether a full remodelling of the existing leisure centre could 

meet the previously identified need. As a result, the following mix of options have been 

included in Option C: 

 

 

56



 

 
 

Main Pool Reconfiguration: 

1.80 A reconfiguration of the pool to provide a level deck, re-tiling the pool tank, and the addition 

of a partial moveable floor would provide the required water area previously identified and 

be flexible enough for a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming and competitive swimming 

events. 

1.81 According to the needs analysis the existing 25 metre pool and learner pool currently provide 

more water space than is necessary. In addition, the current pool surround is excessive, 

and the height of the building over the learner pool results in high energy costs. The 

installation of a moveable floor in the main pool would provide an area of 13 metres by 10 

metres of shallow water, which is greater than the area of the existing learner pool. 

1.82 In addition to being more energy efficient the learner pool area can then be utilised for other 

health and fitness accommodation needs, the space being sufficient for two storeys of 

accommodation. 

Health and Fitness Gym: 

1.83 The existing four squash courts could be reconfigured to accommodate a health and fitness 

gym of the required size to accommodate 80 stations with the addition of a mezzanine floor. 

1.84 Structural amendments would be required to remove some of the internal walls where views 

out could be created, which would also provide an animated and attractive frontage to the 

leisure centre. 

Studios: 

1.85 Two studios could be accommodated in two levels within the existing pool hall area which 

currently houses the learner pool. Each studio would meet the size requirements of 200 

square metres and provide the required storage. 

Changing Village: 

1.86 A conversion of the existing separate male and female wet changing rooms to a unisex 

changing village would bring the areas up to modern standards and provide a flexible and 

family friendly environment. This would incorporate lockable changing rooms for school 

groups and families.  

Male and Female Dry Change: 

1.87 The existing male and female dry changing rooms, which adjoin the sports hall, could be 

refurbished, and brought up to current standards within the existing floor area. 

Entrance: 

1.88 The entrance could be modified to be more inviting and give the leisure centre a greater 

presence from the car park. It is proposed the toilets, which are currently off the reception, 

are remodelled to create a small seating and vending area. 

Sports Hall: 

1.89 This option includes for a refurbishment of the sports hall to include a new floor, cladding 

and structural alterations to the roof. 

General Refurbishment: 

1.90 Within Option C costs have also been included for the demolition of the existing boiler house. 

A services consultant would be required at the next design stage to determine whether there 

57



 

 
 

is a better solution than the current boiler house and oil tank configuration, which is 

unattractive. This may mean that the plant room can be relocated to the first floor of the 

building. 

1.91 It has been proposed that the seating gallery would be retained, with all finishes replaced, 

and the seating refurbished. 

1.92 Small male and female changing rooms could be provided on the first floor in the areas 

which are currently allocated as offices or storage areas and not in use. 

1.93 The existing gym facility can be re-purposed to provide a small meeting room. 

1.94 Option C includes the cost of re-cladding the approach elevations with colour coated 

aluminium curtain walling and installing feature windows. It is proposed that composite 

cladding will be added to the remaining elevations which are less visible. 

1.95 The new single layer membrane and insulated roof deck, in combination with the new 

insulated cladding system will improve the thermal performance of the building and 

contribute to energy savings and carbon efficiencies.  

1.96 The costs and associated business case for Option C are included in Appendix One – 

Exempt Information. This option would satisfy the future accommodation needs identified in 

the needs analysis, as summarised in the table below: 

Area Future Need Option C facilities 

Pool Hall 25m x 6 lane pool with moveable 
floor 

25m x 6 lane level deck pool with 
partial moveable floor providing a 
range of water depths suitable for 
swim lessons and/or competitive 
lane swimming 

Spectator Seating 100 seats 150 seats at gallery level 

Health and Fitness Gym 80 station fitness gym 400 sq m 80 station fitness gym on ground 
floor and mezzanine converted 
from existing squash courts 

Multi-purpose studios 2 x 200 sq m studios with storage 2 x 200 sq m studios with storage 

 Sports Hall 4 court 34.5m x 20m sports hall 4 court 34.5m x 18m sports hall 
(subject to survey) 

 

1.97 In addition to meeting the identified need, Option C would provide the look and feel of a new 

leisure centre. All that would be retained from the previous leisure centre is the structure of 

the building, the inside being completely remodelled and the outside having a more 

welcoming and attractive presence from the car park. 

Option B Plus: 

1.98 As there was a significant cost difference between Option B and C, Paul Weston and SLC 

were requested to look at a fourth option, which was based on Option B with the addition of 

an enhanced entrance to the leisure centre, the accommodation of a larger studio on the 

first floor, and the replacement of the male and female swim change areas to a changing 

village. 

58



 

 
 

1.99 The costs and associated business case for Option B Plus are included in Appendix One – 

Exempt Information. This option provides a reduced capital outlay, and comes close to the 

identified community need as summarised in the table below: 

 

Area Future Need Option B Facilities 

Pool Hall 25m x 6 lane pool with moveable 
floor 

25m x 6 lane pool 0.85m – 1.8m 
deep 

11.5m x 6.5m learner pool 0.75m 
deep 

Spectator Seating 100 seats 150 seats at gallery level 

Health and Fitness Gym 80 station fitness gym 400 sq m 80 station fitness gym on ground 
floor and mezzanine converted 
from existing squash courts 

Multi-purpose studios 2 x 200 sq m studios with storage Existing 75 sq m gym extended to a 
190 sq m studio 

 Sports Hall 4 court 34.5m x 20m sports hall 4 court 33.5m x 18m sports hall 

 

1.100 The only gap in provision with Option B is the provision of one studio, which is slightly smaller 

than the size identified. In addition, some structural columns would need to be retained 

which may limit the use of the area. 

1.101 Although Option B Plus comes very close to providing the facilities identified and provides 

an enhanced lifespan to the building of 25-years, there would be parts of the building which 

would remain unchanged. These areas include the spectator seating, general circulation 

spaces, and the majority of the first-floor area. Therefore, this option does not offer a 

significant improvement in the customer experience. 

General Information and Timeline: 

1.102 Below is a summary of the governance and procurement timeline which is applicable to 

each of the four options: 

 

1.103 All of the refurbishment options identified in this report are at a very early feasibility stage. 

As the project develops each option could be further refined, and there also remains the 

59



 

 
 

possibility to value engineer some of the costs down if and when the Council appoints a 

developer. 

1.104 The anticipated construction period for each of the options considered varies depending on 

the complexity of the work to be undertaken. The table below summarises each option, the 

associated construction period and when a refurbished facility would be expected to open: 

 

 

Football Foundation Grant Funding Opportunity: 

1.105 The Football Foundation have identified the Deepings area as a priority for the development 

of a 3G pitch. Previously the Council have been in talks with them around the opportunity to 

apply for grant funding to develop pitch on the Linchfield Road Playing Fields. This would 

replace the old astroturf pitch which is end of life and there is a budget allocation of £700,000 

of which £200,000 is financed by the Council in the capital programme to allow for the 

required match funding should an application proceed. 

1.106 Earlier this year the Football Foundation advised that there would be a delay in opening up 

the application process. This was primarily due to constraints on their funding pipeline, and 

concerns around how a 3G pitch could be accommodated as part of a new build scheme on 

the Linchfield Road Playing Fields. 

1.107 Recent discussions have now confirmed that the Football Foundation would welcome an 

application from the Council in either April or July 2022. A successful application could 

provide enhanced sports and leisure facilities on the Linchfield Road Playing Fields which 

would complement a refurbished Deepings Leisure Centre. 

1.108 Work has now recommenced on the application, including consultation with the local sports 

clubs and societies who would benefit from the development. If the application were to be 

successful, the Council would need to have a lease in place prior to any funding being drawn 

down. 

Land Negotiations: 

1.109 Following the meeting of Council on 2 September 2021, the Leader of LCC had offered to 

transfer the freehold of the existing Deepings Leisure Centre to the Council for £1.  

60



 

 
 

1.110 Although the Council were keen to explore this as an opportunity, unfortunately this has not 

proved to be possible. Under the provision of the Academies Act, the whole of the leisure 

centre building and land, together with the Linchfield Road Playing Fields will need to be 

transferred via a lease agreement to the Anthem Trust. Any deviation from this would require 

consent from the Department for Education who have confirmed to LCC that such consent 

would not be granted. 

1.111 Negotiations have since progressed on the basis that the leasehold transfer of the land and 

leisure centre building from LCC to the Anthem Trust will be concluded, and that the Trust 

will subsequently enter into a lease with the Council to include the existing leisure centre 

building, the car park and Linchfield Road Playing Fields.   

1.112 A lease between the Anthem Trust and the Council will still require the consent of the 

Department for Education. However, they have provisionally confirmed that they would be 

agreeable to a lease arrangement, subject to Deepings School retaining the use of the 

sports hall and playing fields during the school day. The community would have the full use 

of the pool and the remainder of the leisure facility. 

1.113 It is a further requirement of the Department for Education that all of the leases will need to 

be based on standard academy lease terms and conditions. As such the term will need to 

be 125 years, although provision for a break clause can be accommodated at 25-years. 

1.114 As there are significant works required to the existing leisure centre, legal advice has been 

received that it will be necessary for LCC and the Anthem Trust, and subsequently the Trust 

and the Council, to enter into an Agreement for Lease prior to the formal lease arrangement. 

This Agreement will oblige the Council to undertake any agreed refurbishment works and 

copies of plans and the specification for the works will be attached to the Agreement. The 

Agreement for Lease will also place an obligation on the Trust to grant the Council a lease 

on the successful completion of the works. 

1.115 The terms of the Lease would need to be agreed prior to entering into the Agreement for 

Lease, the final form of the Lease being attached to the Agreement. The terms of the 

Agreement for Lease will provide that the lease will come into force upon practical 

completion of the refurbishment works. Failure to subsequently enter the Lease would be 

deemed a breach of contract and would leave the party in breach liable for any losses 

incurred by the other.  

1.116 This arrangement will provide the Council with the security required to invest in the leisure 

facility, whilst also protecting the Trust from inheriting the building in its current state and 

condition. The Agreement for Lease would also include a longstop date which would provide 

the Trust with comfort of the Council’s intention to complete any works to the building in a 

timely manner. 

1.117 Good progress has been made on agreeing the Heads of Terms for the Agreement of Lease, 

and subsequent Lease. This will require the agreement of the School’s Trustees, who are 

scheduled to meet on the 2 December 2021.  

1.118 One of the conditions of the Agreement for Lease is that the Council and the Trust agree 

the terms of a Service Level Agreement (SLA). The Trust will require the ongoing use of the 

car park, and exclusive use of the sports hall and playing fields during school hours term-

time. The SLA will detail the associated charge to be made for the use of the facilities, and 

how and when the charges will be reviewed.  

61



 

 
 

1.119 Agreement has already been reached with the Trust on an appropriate level of payment for 

the current use of the Linchfield Road Playing Fields during the school day.  It is proposed 

that a similar arrangement is agreed for the use of the sports hall and that the Trust will also 

contribute to the ongoing maintenance of the car park.  

1.120 In addition to this LCC have confirmed that S106 monies had been allocated to provide the 

Trust with sports facilities. The total amount is £1.063 million; however, it should be noted 

that this is not due to be fully received for five years. 

1.121 It was previously envisaged that the funding could be used to provide the Trust with their 

own sports hall facility. Subject to the agreement of the Trust and their Trustees, there may 

be an opportunity to utilise some of the S106 money which has been allocated towards the 

refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre. This would, however, be subject to the Trust 

being guaranteed the ongoing use of the sports hall. 

2  Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 On the 17 August 2021, in consideration of a report on the age and condition of Deepings 

Leisure Centre, Cabinet made two recommendations:  

- A deferment to an extraordinary meeting of the Council at the earliest convenience in 

accordance with paragraph 4.4.3(a) of the Constitution. 

- That the leisure centre building should remain closed on health and safety grounds, until 

the matter could be fully considered at the extraordinary meeting of Council. 

2.2 At the subsequent extraordinary meeting of the Council held on the 2 September 2021, it 

was recommended that the Council: 

- Provide a one-off budget, of up to £100k, to commission a full structural survey and bring 

forward refurbishment options for Deepings Leisure Centre in order to assess the level 

of work necessary to remedy the health and safety issues, and further extend the 

operational life of the current leisure centre. 

- Provide delegated authority to the Director of Housing and Property and the Head of 

Leisure to undertake negotiations with Lincolnshire County Council and The Anthem 

Trust to secure a viable operational lease of the Deepings Leisure Centre 

- That the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and the 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee consider a further report on the options for the refurbishment of the Deepings 

Leisure Centre, together with the associated costs and recommend to Cabinet the 

optimum way forward. 

- That a report be provided to Cabinet which should include the recommendations from 

the joint meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy and Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committees, together with 

an update on the discussions to secure a leasehold interest in Deepings Leisure Centre, 

before making a recommendation to the Council. 

- That reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees should include costed outline 

proposals and business plans for the potential site(s) for a new leisure centre in the 

Deepings including the sites which have not yet been made public.  

2.3 On the 14 October 2021 a briefing session was held for the Members of the Culture and 

Visitor Economy and Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 

62



 

 
 

and Scrutiny Committees. A paper was circulated in advance of the meeting and a 

presentation detailed the feasibility work undertaken to date in relation to a new centre, and 

the work which was to be undertaken to identify refurbishment options for the existing centre. 

2.4 On the evening of the 14 October 2021, all Members of the Council were invited to tour the 

OneNK Centre in North Hykeham. The centre is of a similar build and age as the existing 

Deepings Leisure Centre and was formerly refurbished, Paul Weston being the lead 

Architect. 

3  Available Options Considered 

Do Nothing: 

3.1 Deepings Leisure Centre currently remains closed due to the significant health and safety 

concerns relating to the building, and the risks posed if operated in its current state and 

condition. Without investment and rectification of the necessary remedial works identified in 

the condition survey, it will be necessary for the leisure centre to remain closed. 

3.2 The leisure centre building and land is currently in the ownership of LCC. Should the Council 

decide not to invest in the facility there is an option to formally provide notice to LCC that 

the Council intends to permanently cease the operation of Deepings Leisure Centre. This 

would require negotiation between the Council and LCC as to who would be responsible for 

the costs of demolishing the existing leisure centre building. 

Invest in a New Centre: 

3.3 As detailed within this report, feasibility work has been undertaken which has identified 

several options for a new leisure centre for the Deepings along with the required capital 

investment.  

3.4 An operational business plan has been developed for the options to identify the projected 

annual surplus a new leisure centre could provide, and the impact on the Council’s revenue 

budgets. 

3.5 Due to increasing budgetary pressures, and the impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s 

finances, it has been established that any investment would need to be funded by prudential 

borrowing.  

3.6 Considering the projected annual surplus of each of the schemes assessed, all of the 

options identified would result in a significant long-term revenue pressure for the Council. 

3.7 As detailed within the report to Cabinet on the 17 August 2021 and the report to Council on 

2 September 2021, a further option was identified which could provide a new leisure centre 

for the Deepings area in a different location. Early talks have taken place with LCC regarding 

a potential joint leisure and residential development on the Millfield Road site in Market 

Deeping. 

3.8 The Millfield Road site is not currently allocated within the Local Plan, however could be 

included in the call out for sites which is currently ongoing as part of a refresh of the Plan. 

This would require the Council and LCC to work together to submit a joint proposal for 

consideration.  

3.9 As the anticipated timeline for the adoption of a refreshed Local Plan is not until December 

2024, this would leave the Deepings area without leisure provision for some time. In 

addition, any future development of a leisure centre would still be subject to a favourable 

business case and funding strategy. 

63



 

 
 

3.10 In addition, a residential development at this location has previously met with resistance 

from the local community and is highly likely to be unpopular. 

Invest in a Remodelled Centre: 

3.11 As detailed within this report feasibility work has taken place on the Landis & Gyr site in 

Market Deeping. Whilst some advantages were identified in relation to this scheme, 

including a reduced capital outlay, the age of the building and the reduced borrowing term 

would result in a higher impact on the Council’s General Fund revenue budgets. 

3.12 As the site had been allocated as employment land within the Local Plan and advice was 

received that this would be a barrier at the planning stage. 

Refurbish Existing Centre: 

3.13 As detailed within this report, four options have been identified to refurbish the existing 

Deepings Leisure Centre. An operational business plan has been developed for each 

option, and the impact on the Council’s revenue budget has been identified. 

3.14 Each of the options identified would extend the life of the existing Deepings Leisure Centre 

by an additional 25-years. This would maximise the term the Council would be able to 

borrow the capital over. 

3.15 The options range from a rectification of all items identified on the condition survey, to a full 

remodel and refurbishment of the existing centre which would provide similar facilities to 

those previously identified when assessing the feasibility of the new leisure centre. 

4   Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

4.1 It is proposed that the recommendations made from this joint meeting of Culture and Visitor 

Economy and Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Committee will be 

considered at a meeting of Cabinet on the 7 December 2021. It is envisaged that Cabinet 

will make a further recommendation onto an Extraordinary Meeting of the Council to be held 

on 14 December 2021. 

4.2 Prior to making any investment in Deepings Leisure Centre, the current negotiations on the 

Heads of Terms for an Agreement for Lease, and the associated Lease, will need to be 

concluded. This will also include the development of an SLA which will set out the School’s 

use of the leisure centre and an appropriate charge.  

4.3 LCC and the School are aware of the urgency of agreement being reached and are fully 

committed to ensuring legal matters are brought to a swift conclusion. However, this will 

also be dependent on the timescale for approval by the Department for Education. Whilst 

this is out of the hands of the parties involved, LCC have remained in regular contact with 

them to ensure that they are fully aware of developments. It should be noted that the 

Department for Education have been chasing for a resolution of the leasehold arrangements 

between LCC and the School for some time and are pleased that this is now in progress. 

5   Financial Implications  

5.1 The report sets out a range of options in respect of the leisure offer for the Deepings and 

surrounding area. The options include new builds and refurbishment scenarios, and these 

are set out in the report.  Each of the options clearly set out the financial implications for the 

Council each year for the period of the borrowing. 

64



 

 
 

5.2 This report includes a range of refurbishment options relating to the existing Deepings 

Leisure Centre that will extend the operational life by 25 years. Each of the options have 

significant capital implications that will require borrowing whichever option is taken forward, 

and there is currently insufficient Council reserves to meet the costs without borrowing. 

5.3 The borrowing will incur an annual charge to the General Fund for the duration of the asset’s 

life. The annual charge will include borrowing costs and a requirement to make an annual 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). This is the method by which local authorities charge 

their revenue accounts over time with the cost of their capital expenditure which is funded 

by borrowing. As part of the review of the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) the Council 

will need to consider how this newly introduced revenue cost can be funded sustainably 

over the 25-year period. 

5.4 Financial modelling of the revenue implications of each option has been undertaken by 

external leisure professionals in order to demonstrate the optimum refurbishment 

configuration. In the event of there being an operating surplus then this should be used in 

the first instance to offset the borrowing costs to reduce the impact on the Council finances.  

As the projections cannot be wholly relied upon, it is prudent to assume the total of the 

borrowing costs when considering the options presented. 

5.5 The range of borrowing costs that will be incurred are shows in the table below: 

 
New build* Refurbishment 

 6 Lane 
25m pool 

8 Lane 
25m pool 

8 Lane 
50m pool 

Landis & 
Gyr 

Smaller 6 
Lane Pool 

A B B+ C 

Capital Cost £21.447m £26.094m £34.799m £23.598m £20.171m £5.728m £6.754m £8.075m £10.663m 

Annual 
Borrowing 

£0.858m £1.044m £1.392 £1.346m £0.807m £0.344m £0.405m £0.485m £0.640m 

*15% inflationary/contingency cost included 

5.6 Currently the Council’s medium term financial plans cannot demonstrate affordability for any 

of the new build or refurbishment options as the financial outlook is uncertain primarily due 

to changes to the national funding arrangements. However, this is regularly reviewed as 

part of the annual budget cycle and changes both from a local and national context are 

incorporated into the medium term outlook. 

5.7 It is imperative that the Council undertakes a review of its spending priorities in order to 

include any borrowing costs into its revenue budges and therefore enable demonstration of 

the affordability of undertaking such a large scale of borrowing.  The Council will also be 

aware of other capital investment programmes and the wider national context of funding 

changes that will impact on the Council finances from 2023/24 onwards. This structural 

review of how the Council’s finances are allocated and prioritised in the context of the 

Corporate Plan actions and the inclusion of the borrowing obligations will be required should 

a decision be taken to proceed with any option. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

6  Legal and Governance Implications  

6.1 The Council has previously received legal advice that, in the absence of any formal 

arrangements, they have been occupying Deepings Leisure Centre as ‘tenants at will’. As 

such the Council currently has no legal interest in the building and the advice received has 

65



 

 
 

confirmed that, despite the Council being historically responsible for the ongoing repair and 

maintenance of the current centre there is no ongoing legal obligation for this to continue. 

6.2 It will be necessary for the Council to secure expert legal advice and support to develop the 

Heads of Terms, which will form the basis of an Agreement for Lease and Lease between 

the two parties. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

7  Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

7.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has previously been undertaken to assess the impact a 

permanent closure of Deepings Leisure Centre would have on the local community.  

7.2 This assessment demonstrated that a closure would negatively impact on all groups with 

protected characteristics who, along with the rest of the customers, would no longer be able 

to undertake activity at Deepings Leisure Centre. 

7.3 As a counter to this negative impact, customers have been encouraged to use the three 

other leisure centres within the district. Whilst this may not be the preferred option for the 

previous users, this has helped to mitigate some of the impact. 

8 Risk and Mitigation 

8.1 The most significant risk remains the inability to secure a lease of the current leisure centre 

land and building. Although good progress has been made with the agreement of Heads of 

Terms between the Council and the School, the Agreement for Lease, and subsequent 

Lease, will need to be approved by the Department for Education. The timescale for this is 

out of the Council’s control, however LCC have confirmed that they are hopeful that this will 

be dealt with expediently. 

8.2 Although talks are continuing, to date LCC have not confirmed any financial contribution to 

the cost of refurbishment. 

8.3 As detailed within this report there may be some S106 monies available which total just over 

£1 million. However, as these relate to future housing developments, the funds are only 

projected at this time. In addition, as the funds have been set aside to provide sporting 

facilities for Deepings School, any allocation of S106 funding to the Council would be 

dependent on the agreement of the School’s Trustees. 

8.4 To ensure the refurbishment options detailed within this report are as robust as possible an 

element of inflation and contingency have been included within the projected costs. Whilst 

this has allowed the Council to predict the likely impact on the Medium Term Financial Plan, 

the project is at a very early stage and therefore there can be no certainty around the costs 

at this stage until the Council can engage the market place. 

8.5 It is widely accepted that construction costs have risen therefore until the project is at the 

appropriate stage it is not possible to test the market and the assumptions that have been 

made. However, these assumptions have been made on the advice of industry specialists 

and are considered to be prudent. 

8.6 It has been assumed that the Council will begin to appoint a design team and developer for 

the next stage of the project in January 2022. Any delay may increase the risks around 

inflationary price rises. 

66



 

 
 

8.7 As a result of Brexit and COVID-19 it has been well documented that nationally there is a 

shortage in labour and materials. This could add in further costs or result in a delay to the 

recommended refurbishment option being completed. To mitigate this risk, it is 

recommended that the Council undertake some early market engagement to assess the 

current situation. 

8.8 The business plans provided within this report are based upon the known competition within 

the local area. There remains a risk that a competing facility could open which would have 

a prejudicial impact on the projected income. 

8.9 If a budget is secured and the refurbishment works are to proceed an appropriate Risk 

Register will be developed and managed as part of the project works. 

8.10 There is asbestos within the existing leisure centre building. On the advice of the cost 

consultants an appropriate allocation for the encapsulation and/or removal of this has been 

included in the costs for each refurbishment option. 

8.11 Financial Risks – the financial risks are set out at paragraph 5 of the report and set out the 

detail of the financial implications of the options. 

9  Community Safety Implications  

9.1 The Council has a statutory duty under health and safety law to ensure that any premises 

and equipment used are safe. 

10  How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District       

  Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

10.1 Previously the Council’s four leisure centres have accounted for 41.5% of the Council’s 

carbon emissions. The temporary closure of Deepings Leisure Centre will result in a carbon 

saving whilst the centre remains closed. 

10.2 Any future development, or refurbishment option will be undertaken in line with current 

building standards and include opportunities to reduce carbon emissions. 

11  Other Implications (where significant)  

11.1 None 

12   Background Papers 

12.1 Background Paper 1 - Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone 7 March 2019 

12.2 Exempt Background Paper 2 - Mace Ltd Feasibility Report and Appendices 

12.3 Exempt Background Paper 3 - SLC Report, Replacement for Deepings Leisure Centre 

Business Plan – October 2020 

12.4 Exempt Background Paper 4 - SLC Briefing Paper, 50 metre pool option – August 2020 

12.5 Exempt Background Paper 5 - SLC Report, Landis & Gyr Review - December 2020 

12.6 Exempt Background Paper 6 - SLC Report, Replacement of Deepings Leisure Centre – 

January 2021 

13 Appendices 

13.1 Exempt Appendix One – Exempt Information 

13.2 Exempt Appendix Two – Paul Weston Refurbishment Options Report 

67



 

 
 

13.3 Exempt Appendix Three – Paul Weston Supplemental Information 

13.4 Exempt Appendix Four – SLC Refurbishment Options Business Case Report 

 

 

 

68



Document is Restricted

69

Agenda Item 6b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

165

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
7 December 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Asset Disposal Programme to Support Growth 

This report sets out a proposed methodology to dispose of Council property assets for a range of 
purposes including direct delivery of services, revenue generation and supporting corporate plan 
objectives.  

 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles  (Assistant Director of Finance & s151 Officer) 

 
01476 406210 

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Key All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 25 November 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 25 November 2021  

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

29 November 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approve the sequential disposal methodology outlined in this report with regards 
General Fund asset disposals. 

2. Delegate authority to the Director of Housing and Property, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Property, the Deputy Leader, Chief Executive, 
s151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer to dispose of General Fund assets up to a 
value of £2m (exclusive of any applicable VAT) subject to legal and valuation 
advice.  

 

203

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Corporate Plan (2020-2023) is ambitious for economic growth. With a residential 

population of 143,200, a business population of 5,940, and 67,400 people economically 

active, the District Council and its partners are working hard to explore, prepare for and 

deliver a low-carbon, clean, green and prosperous district that attracts high quality 

employment opportunities, encourages healthy lifestyles and an improved climate for 

investment to accelerate economic growth.  

1.2 In responding to the challenging budget position, this requires the Council to be innovative 

in how its property assets are utilised to stimulate economic activity, attract investment 

and create income to support service delivery.  

1.3 The Council has clear ambitions to acquire and develop key General Fund (GF) capital 

projects that support or directly deliver the ambitions as set out in the Corporate Plan.  In 

order to meet the financial scale of this ambition, it is prudent to rationalise and dispose of 

assets that do not directly contribute towards the Corporate Plan priorities or have become 

surplus to the requirements of the Council.  This framework provides an opportunity for the 

Council to realise capital receipts that can be utilised to fund emerging capital projects to 

meet the Corporate Plan ambitions.  This approach also financially supports the Council’s 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) as it would reduce the need to borrow (to support 

the investments) which would otherwise introduce new financial obligations associated 

with borrowing. 

1.4 Over recent years the Council has adopted a clear strategy of utilising its own resources 

(reserves) to fund the majority of its annual General Fund capital programme.  This has 

been financial advantageous as the cost of borrowing over the same period has exceeded 

the loss of investment income that would otherwise have been received.  However there is 

now an opportunity to accelerate the capital receipts programme in order to minimise 

exposure to unnecessary borrowing costs.  It is recognised that borrowing is an option 

available to the Council and the framework for doing so is set out in the annual Treasury 

Management Strategy.  There are Prudential Code requirements that need to be 

considered when considering external borrowing – the primary one being affordability.  

This will need to be considered in the context of the Council’s MTFP and the three year 

financial outlook from 2022/23.  

1.5 Therefore the purpose of this report is to set out for Cabinet the principles and processes 

that will ensure good governance and best value are achieved with regards to a 

programme of General Fund land and property disposals over the timescale of the 

Corporate Plan and the MTFP.   

1.6 The following sequential steps are proposed to be undertaken with regards to disposing of 

any asset (land and buildings). 

Identifying Assets for Disposal 

1.7 Officers will undertake the following activities in order to identify General Fund assets that 

could be disposed or could be considered for disposal:  

1) Review of all properties on the Council’s Asset Register  

2) Identify those assets that are of strategic, operational or of income generating 

 significance. 

204



 

 
 

3) Assess remaining assets with regards income generation, revenue cost and current 

 position (ease/speed of sale). 

4) Produce long list of assets that can be considered for disposal following actions set 

 out at 1-3. 

  Asset Valuation 

1.9 Following the actions set out at 1.8, each site remaining on the long list will be valued by 

an independent RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) registered valuer, taking 

into account any legal constraints and impediments identified.  

1.10 The Council will at the same time seek advice as to the most advantageous method of 
disposal in order to maximise the financial return.  

 
 Disposal and Methods of Disposal 
  
1 .11 The method for the disposal of assets will be assessed and determined on a case by case 

basis and may be dependent on the advice received from Legal Services Lincolnshire and 
the independent RICS registered valuer’s valuation report. 

 
1.12  It is assumed that the majority of assets will be disposed of on the open market or at 

auction however the Council will choose the method of disposal which complies with 

Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 and provides best consideration.  

Officer Delegation 

1.13 The Director of Housing and Property, subject to proper legal/valuation advice, will have 

delegated authority to dispose of assets up to a value of £2m (exclusive of any applicable 

VAT) after consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property, the Council’s 

s151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer. Any potential disposals greater than £2m will require 

a Cabinet or Council decision.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Cabinet is asked to consider the proposals set out in the report.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 There is not currently a specific process for asset disposal so the methodology set out in 

the report recommends that a way forward to ensure capital receipts can be generated in 

a timely manner. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This is set out in the report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The reasons for the recommendation are set out in the report and confirm the context of 

the proposal which is to support the ambitions of the Corporate Plan and support the 

MTFP. 

 

 

 

205



 

 
 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Should the recommendations be approved, then the methodology will be implemented in 

accordance with the steps set out in the report. Any decisions taken with disposal which 

would be in accordance with the delegation will be documented for each decision taken. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The reports sets out the ambitions of the Council to deliver key strategic capital projects 

over the medium term and in order to do so will require significant levels of financing.  

There are a range of financing options available to the Council including borrowing and 

using its own resources. In order to establish and maintain a level capital reserves that 

can be utilised to contribute towards the financing of future capital projects it is 

recommended that a pipeline of asset disposals are established that will generate capital 

receipts.  As the cost of external borrowing is greater than the investment income that 

would otherwise be received on capital reserves, it is recognised that this strategy is 

currently the most financially advantageous and avoids putting pressure on the revenue 

implications of financing external debt. This will be subject to regular monitoring and 

modelling each financial year. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance & 

s151 Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The report sets out the legal basis for disposal of assets and their valuation. The 

delegation proposed to the Director of Housing and Property fits within the decision-

making framework of the Council.   

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive & 

Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Not applicable. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The methodology being proposed and the requirement to receive independent valuations 

 and recommendation disposal routes to market will ensure best value will be achieved on 

 any disposal. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Not applicable. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 Not applicable. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Not applicable. 

206



 

 
 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Not applicable. 

207



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
7 December 2021 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  Cabinet Member for Leisure 

         
  

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 

To consider and formally adopt a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for South Kesteven District 
Council. This strategy sets out the district’s vision, mission, aims and objectives for increasing 
rates of physical activity over the next five years.  

 

Report Author 

Emma Sharpe (Leisure Officer) 

 
 07747769943 

  e.sharpe@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Key Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Karen Whitfield (Head of Leisure and Cultural 
Services) 

12 November 2021 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 12 November 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson (Cabinet Member for 
Leisure) 

15 November 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

1. Approves the adoption of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy as the Council’s 
strategic document to underpin the Corporate Plan (2020-2023) priority of Healthy 
and Strong Communities. 

209

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2023) identifies Healthy and Strong Communities 

as a key priority. To underpin this priority there is a commitment to develop and adopt a 

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for the district. 

1.2 On 22 June 2021, Members of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered a report which provided an update on the development of the Sport 

and Physical Activity Strategy. It was proposed that the Strategy would focus on providing 

opportunities for residents to be more active and identify a broad range of opportunities to 

incorporate sport and physical activity into everyday life. Members subsequently approved 

the process for developing the Strategy, together with the scope and key themes to be 

explored. 

1.3 In developing the Strategy, it was recognised that the Council alone cannot deliver its 

corporate ambition to build healthy and strong communities. To maximise the 

opportunities for residents to increase their physical activity levels and adopt a healthy 

lifestyle, importance was placed on the Strategy reflecting the collective ambitions and 

views of partner organisations and key stakeholders. 

1.4 Alongside the work of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, the Council has committed 

to the Mental Health Challenge for local authorities and has acknowledged the Council’s 

role to play in improving the mental wellbeing for everyone in the community.  This is 

across all the Council’s areas of responsibility, including: housing, community safety, 

engagement, planning and leisure. 

1.5 Initial conversations have taken place with those that have a role in health within the 

community, this includes the National Health Service (NHS) Neighbourhoods team and 

social prescribers. Further work will be undertaken to look at delivering a whole systems 

approach and developing integrated care systems.  

1.6 Council officers from the Leisure Team met with Active Lincolnshire, the county’s Active 

Partnership, to consider how the Strategy aligns with the county-wide agenda and to 

update their local club and activity finder.  

1.7 Consideration has been given to alignment with Sport England’s ‘Uniting the Movement’ 

campaign (available online via: https://www.sportengland.org/why-were-here/uniting-the-

movement). 

1.8 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for consideration by Cabinet Members can be 

found in Appendix 1.  

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Strategy builds upon a series of consultations and drop-in sessions which initially took 

place in 2019 with a wide range of clubs, stakeholders and residents in the district.  

Further work has since taken place to expand the key themes and develop an 

accompanying action plan. 

2.2 In July and August 2021, more consultation took place with partner organisations to 

refresh the information gathered in 2019 and to agree priority outcomes and key themes.  

2.3 Meetings have been held with the local sports charity Inspire+ to consider how the 

Strategy impacts young people, and how best to encourage partnership working to 

210



 

 
 

achieve the mutual objective of getting young people more active, more often in South 

Kesteven.  

2.4 Further consultation has taken place with LeisureSK Ltd, as the Council’s current leisure 

provider, to consider how the Strategy aligns with the work they do and to identify further 

opportunities, both within the Council’s leisure facilities and in the local community.  

2.5 Discussions have taken place with other Council teams to establish how collectively the 

Council can make improvements to the health and wellbeing of residents across all 

service areas. This has included discussions with officers in the Council’s housing, 

corporate operations and planning teams. These conversations have highlighted key 

areas and potential projects for Council teams to work together to promote healthy, active 

lifestyles for residents and in the community.  

2.6 Council officers have attended training and workshops with Sport England and the Chief 

Cultural and Leisure Officers Association. A key topic of discussion has focussed on 

navigating local systems and systems leadership to enable shared learning and 

experiences with other districts, active partnerships, and key stakeholders. This has 

helped form and shape some the ideas and key themes within the Strategy and has 

ensured alignment with the national government agenda. 

2.7 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy has been developed using the key themes and 

methodology approved by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 

2.8 On 8 September 2021, Members of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee considered a draft version of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy. 

Members discussed the importance of inclusion of the Council in more ‘joined up thinking’ 

and collaborative working with other organisations, as detailed in the consultation work. 

Members of that Committee recommended that Cabinet adopt the Sport and Physical 

Activity Strategy.  

Available Options Considered 

3.1 The only alternative option considered was not to have a Sport and Physical Activity 

Strategy. If this option was pursued, the district would suffer from not having a clearly 

articulated strategic position around increasing physical activity.  

3.2 Without a policy to give direction to the Council, partners and stakeholders, activity rates 

are unlikely to increase and are likely to worsen.  

3.3 Increasing physical activity delivers a multitude of health, social, environmental, and 

economic benefits. It is therefore imperative that the district approaches this challenge in a 

robust and coordinated manner.  

Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is that the Strategy is adopted by Cabinet. The Strategy provides a 

basis and framework for the Council to deliver on its corporate ambition to improve the 

health and wellbeing outcomes within our local communities.  

Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 To enable the Council to have a clear strategy and action plan for Sport and Physical 

Activity to support delivery across the district for the next five years and which reflects 

national and regional policies and strategies.  

211



 

 
 

5.2 In approving the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy the Council sets out a positive vision 

and clear way froward to achieve much improved rates of physical activity amongst South 

Kesteven residents and a platform to work collectively with other providers. 

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The priority outcomes will be widely communicated to stakeholders and the Council’s 

Leisure Team will work with other service areas, LeisureSK Ltd and external stakeholders 

to deliver the action plan. 

6.2 The Leisure Team will provide six-monthly updates to the Culture and Visitor Economy 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the progress of the action plan detailed in the 

Strategy and the impact on the priority outcomes.  

Financial Implications  

7.1 The adoption of the Strategy and the associated action plan is likely to require financial 

resources in which to deliver the identified actions. Where financial resources are 

required, then approved budgets will be utilised or an appropriate business case will be 

developed which identifies the cost and the associated benefit to the community. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer. 

Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications rising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The Strategy has been developed in line with the Council’s Equality and Diversity Annual 

Position Statement and Safeguarding Policy. 

9.2 LeisureSK Ltd, as the leisure provider for the Council, has an Equality and Diversity Policy 

and Safeguarding Policy that is specific to leisure industry standards. 

9.3 The Strategy outlines the Council’s role in ensuring opportunities to be active are 

accessible to all.  

9.4 The Strategy identifies and seeks to reduce health inequalities and remove any barriers to 

undertaking physical activity. Target groups have been identified in the Strategy including 

residents from priority wards, young people, older adults, and people with disabilities and 

long-term health conditions, including mental health. 

9.5 An Equality Impact Analysis has been completed and can be found in Appendix 2.  

Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The absence of any strategy would significantly jeopardise any further discussions with 

communities, stakeholder and strategic partners.  

10.2 With the ambition of supporting residents of South Kesteven to live active and healthy 

lives, the reputational risk to the Council would be substantial if we were not to move 

forward with the implementation of a strategy.  

212



 

 
 

10.3 There are growing health inequalities across the district, with COVID-19 enhancing these.  

There would be substantial risk to the Council if there was no intervention to support 

residents to become more physically active.  The costs relating to physical inactivity would 

only increase.  

Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Targeted sport and physical activity can used to improve community cohesion and have a 

positive impact on reducing anti-social behaviour in our communities. 

11.2 Sport and physical activity provide organised ways for young people to socialise with 

others in a safe space. The Strategy includes the support of initiatives which will engage 

young people and provide opportunities for them to participate in sport and physical 

activity. 

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District Council’s 

declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Health is closely linked to the environment. Individual action can make a difference and 

when taken together, adds up to collective action to make an even bigger difference. The 

Strategy will aim to encourage healthy, active lifestyles for residents, including an 

emphasis on reducing reliance on cars by using ‘active transport’ (such as walking and 

cycling) or public transport to contribute towards reducing the carbon footprint of the 

district.  

12.2 Keeping leisure provision within local communities and increasing the outreach offer will 

serve to minimise emissions from car usage. 

Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 Having a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy is not a statutory requirement. It is hoped 

that having a Strategy will help with protecting the risks associated with increased obesity, 

growing numbers of older adults requiring social care, providing the best infrastructure to 

support more active living.  

Background Papers 

14.1 Development of a Sports and Physical Activity Strategy, report of the Culture and Visitor 

Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published 22 June 2021, available online via: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30205/Development%20of%20a%20

Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf   

14.2 Draft Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, report of the Culture and Visitor Economy 

Overview and Scrutiny, published 8 September 2021, available online via:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30782/Sport%20and%20Physical%2

0Activity%20Strategy.pdf  

Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for South Kesteven District Council 

15.2 Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Analysis – Sport and Physical Activity Strategy  

 

 

 

213

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30205/Development%20of%20a%20Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30205/Development%20of%20a%20Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30782/Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30782/Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2021/26

DRAFT

Sport & 
Physical 
Activity 
Strategy 

Appendix 1

215



2

Contents

Our Vision for South Kesteven 3

The Importance of Sport and Physical Activity 4

About our District - Key Issues in South Kesteven 6

Priorities for South Kesteven  8

Key Themes 10

Action Plan 12

Our Facilities 14

Links to Key Documents - References 14

Contact Details 15

Vision:  
Inspiring everyone to  
live a more active life
 
Mission:  
Providing opportunities  
for people to be more  
active, more often

DRAFT

216



3

DRAFT

Our vision for South Kesteven
The events of the past year and the impact of 
COVID-19 have changed our lives, our behaviours 
and how we do things. After intermittent periods of 
staying at home to keep our loved ones safe, many 
of us have taken up new activities or feel this is 
the time to start being more active.  It will be vitally 
important, as we emerge from the pandemic, that 
we recognise the role that sport and physical activity 
have in improving the physical and mental health 
of our residents, integrating our communities.  It is 
our corporate vision that this Strategy will provide a 
platform to support our communities to adopt a healthy 
lifestyle, build our economy, and will be a huge part of 
rebuilding a stronger and more resilient society for all.

Our Corporate Plan1 clearly sets out how South 
Kesteven District Council intends to “be the best 
district in which to live, work, and visit.” This plan 
outlines our role in ensuring we have healthy and 
strong communities and our commitment to providing 
opportunities for all residents and visitors to the district 
to participate in sport and physical activity.

As a Council, we have shown our commitment to 
ensuring there are opportunities for people to be 
active in South Kesteven, including the establishment 
of LeisureSK Ltd who took over the management of 
the Council’s leisure centres in January 2021.  We will 
work together to provide high quality facilities, that are 
customer focused and meet the needs of residents 
in South Kesteven. We also have a shared ambition 
to provide outreach activities in our communities, 
providing opportunities for all to be active across the 
whole district.

We have shown that we can work with partners and 
adapt to ever-changing circumstances. During the 
COVID-19 crisis we remained proud supporters of 
the Mini Olympics and, although it was not possible to 
run the event at our South Kesteven Sports Stadium, 
local sports charity Inspire+ ran a virtual event. This 
meant that, although our young people could not all 
be in one place to celebrate everything the Olympics 
encompasses, they could still be active from their 
schools and in their homes.

As a district council, we will continue to work hand-in-
hand with other partners and stakeholders at a district, 
county and national level so that collectively we can 
deliver for the residents of South Kesteven.

We want to tackle the inequalities we see in 
participation in sport and physical activity and health, 
remove barriers and provide residents and visitors 
to South Kesteven with opportunities to “be more 
active, more often.” This needs to be integrated into 
our lifestyles, not just in organised sport and physical 
activity, but in the way we commute, in our workplaces 
and how we choose to spend our free time. 

This strategy is a vision for the next five years. It 
sets out the mission to provide opportunities that our 
residents need now and, in the future, to build healthy 
and strong communities and encourage residents to 
live healthy, active lifestyles.

Cllr Kelham Cooke
Leader of the Council  
South Kesteven District Council

Karen Bradford 
Chief Executive 
South Kesteven District Council

Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Leisure 
South Kesteven District Council

 @southkesteven
  @southkdc
  linkedin.com/company/south-kesteven-council

DRAFT

217



4

The importance of sport and 
physical activity

BENEFITS OF EXERCISE2:

Develops  
co-ordination

Strengthens muscles 
and bones Reduces stress

Boosts 
self 

esteem
Makes 

you feel 
good

Improves 
quality  
of life

Improves 
sleep 

quality

Helps 
maintain 
healthy 
weight

Improves 
health and 

fitness

Improves concentration and learning

DRAFT

218



5DRAFT
The benefits of physical activity are 
well documented. For young people, 
sport and physical activity helps their 
bodies and minds develop, and in 
the older generation being physically 
active reduces the risk of illnesses 
such as heart disease, stroke, certain 
types of cancer and osteoporosis. 
Being physically active has a positive 
effect on our mental wellbeing by reducing 
anxiety, combatting loneliness, and reducing the 
impact of social isolation.

The benefits to our health are astounding, every 
year 30 million active lifestyles are credited with 
30 million fewer GP visits and leading an active 
lifestyle prevents 900,000 cases of diabetes and 
93,000 of dementia – a combined saving of £7.1 

billion to the UK economy.4 With 
collaborative working across the 
public health system and with other 
services, we can work together 
to focus on disease prevention, 
empower residents with knowledge 
about healthy lifestyles choices, 

encourage activity and in turn, address 
health inequalities. 

There is both a need and an opportunity for 
physical activity, sport, and wellbeing to play 
a major role in helping the health of the nation 
recover from COVID-19. During this time, we 
also acknowledge that people’s behaviours will 
have changed and that we need to provide new 
opportunities and innovative ways for people to be 
active in their everyday lives.

It’s medically proven that people who do regular 
physical activity have3:

35%
lower risk of coronary 

heart disease  
and stroke

50%
lower risk of type 2 

diabetes

50%
lower risk of  
colon cancer

30%
lower risk of early 

death

83%
lower risk of 
osteoarthritis

20%
lower risk of  

breast cancer

68%
lower risk of hip 

fracture

30%
lower risk of falls 

(among older  
adults)

30%
lower risk of dementia

30%
lower risk of 
depression

DRAFT

219



6

DRAFTSouth Kesteven has a wealth of community assets, 
leisure facilities, parks, countryside paths and open 
spaces that are well situated to provide opportunities 
to be active in our communities. 

These opportunities need to be focused in areas 
that will make the most difference to local people. 
We recognise that there are health inequalities in 
our communities and as a result, we need to ensure 
that our services reach and access key priority 
communities.

South Kesteven covers a vast area of 365sq miles 
and is made up of our four market towns and many 
rural areas. We know that not everyone will be able to 
travel to their local leisure facility, and the importance 
of providing opportunities to be active in the heart of 
our communities. 

With a population of 143,347, and a forecast to grow 
by around 4.5% over the next ten years, and by 7.7% 
between now and 2040, ensuring spaces to be active 
in our growing communities forms an important part of 
our planning processes.

About our District - key issues in 
South Kesteven

IT’S MEDICALLY PROVEN THAT PEOPLE WHO DO 
REGULAR PHYSICAL ACTIVITY HAVE5:

41.1%
of adults living in 
South Kesteven 
are physically 

inactive5

46.7%
of children in 

South Kesteven 
are consider 
physically 
inactive5

66.3%
of adults in South Kesteven 

are classified as overweight or 
obese6

23.6%
of reception 

(4 and 5 year olds) are 
considered overweight 

or obese6

36.8%
of year 6 (10 and 11 year olds) are 
considered overweight or obese6

10.3%
of adults are predicted to 
have diabetes by 20357

17.3% of adults are reported to 
have a limiting long-term 

illness or disability7

69%
of deaths from 

cardiovascular disease 
are considered to be 

preventable7

23.6%
of our population is made 

up of older adults1

1 in 4
people suffer with 

mental health issues 
in any given year8

220



7

DRAFT

Establishment of LeisureSK Ltd 
In January 2021, LeisureSK Ltd was 

established to run the Council’s  
leisure provision, demonstrating a 
commitment to provide high quality  

leisure facilities and outreach activities in 
our communities, providing  

opportunities for people to be more  
active, more often. 

DRAFT

221



8

DRAFTVision: Inspiring everyone to live a more active life 
Mission: Providing opportunities for people to be  
more active, more often 
South Kesteven aspires to have a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy which brings together a wide group of 
partners, with shared objectives, creating, promoting, and enhancing opportunities for sport and physical activity 
as a key means to help create a healthier district. 

The priority outcomes outlined below underpin the work we do and our aspirations for our leisure services.  

Priorities for South Kesteven 

Priority Outcome Why this is important

Improving the health of residents and visitors by 
encouraging and providing opportunities for people in 
South Kesteven to be more active, more often

• Obesity and illnesses such as diabetes and 
cardiovascular disease are prevalent in our society 
but often preventable

• There is a significant cost to the NHS to treat these 
illnesses

• Regular exercise as part of a healthy lifestyle is 
proven to reduce the risk of certain illnesses

Tackling inactivity in priority groups and areas, 
increasing the numbers of people taking part in 
physical activity and the frequency this is undertaken 
to include:

• The Council’s priority wards and rural areas
• Young people
• Older adults
• People with disabilities and/or long-term health 

conditions

• South Kesteven is made up of 365sq miles, our 
rural communities may not have access to our 
traditional leisure facilities

• There are increasing rates of obesity in young 
people 

• 23.6% of the population in South Kesteven are 
older adults1

• Participation in physical activity is lower for people 
with lower incomes

• Participation in physical activity is lower for people 
with disability and/or long-term health conditions

Provide high quality leisure facilities and activities 
to deliver positive and affordable opportunities for 
people to improve their health and wellbeing

• Providing safe places for people to be active 
encourages participation 

• Positive and affordable opportunities ensure our 
services are available to all and encourage return

Nurture robust and meaningful partnerships 
across sectors to improve activity opportunities 
and encourage partnership working and improve 
community cohesion

• Working in collaboration with other partners, we 
can pool our resources, utilise our communication 
channels and achieve so much more

• Sport and physical activity provide opportunities for 
socialising and brings communities together

• Community cohesion and anti-social behaviour 
can be reduced by providing opportunities to be 
active, particularly for young people 

Improving knowledge of the benefits of physical 
activity and deliver a positive customer experience 
for those who visit the Council’s leisure facilities and 
engage with services

• Educating people on the benefits of physical 
activity is more likely to result in behaviour change

• Delivering a positive customer experience will 
result in repeat visits and increased participation

DRAFT

222



9

DRAFT Parks – A Hub for Activity  
Over recent years, Wyndham Park has 

achieved Green Flag status and provided 
opportunities to be active including the 

installation of table tennis tables and an urban 
gym. It is home to junior park run, a bowls club, 
football training and a social running group as 
well as providing pathways and cycling routes 
for people to be more active.  A series of other 

projects are planned to provide 
further opportunities for people to 

meet and be active in our 
green spaces.DRAFT

223



10

We want to help deliver on the Lincolnshire Physical Activity Blueprint9 utilising our knowledge of the district and 
connections with people and places. Alongside the key areas of active society, active place, active people and 
active system, the Council has developed the following themes to consider when developing an action plan to 
deliver on this Strategy. The themes highlight key areas that underpin our working, projects in the community 
and the message to our partners. 

Key themes 

Active Society
Enhancing understanding of, and appreciation 
for, the many benefits of regular physical activity, 
according to ability and at all ages

Encourage physical activity as a holistic approach 
to wellbeing, including a focus on mental health

Ensure participation is affordable and accessible to 
the whole community

Active Place
Creating environments for people, of all ages, to 
have equitable access to safe places and spaces, 
in which to take part in regular physical activity

Invest in the Council’s leisure facilities to ensure 
that they meet the needs of customers

Explore opportunities to use parks and open 
spaces within the district

Active People
Providing opportunities and programmes across 
many settings to help all people and communities 
to take part in regular physical activity

Support a broad range of sport and physical activity 
opportunities that reflect the interests and needs of 
the community and visitors to the district

Work with the Council’s leisure provider to run 
health intervention programmes that result in 
improved health and wellbeing for residents and 
deliver outreach activities in our communities

Active System
Creating the leadership, governance and 
partnerships, plus workforce capabilities across 
sectors to use resources in a more coordinated 
way to reduce sedentary behaviour

Recognise that physical activity is more than 
participation in sport and includes activities such as 
walking, dancing and gardening

Facilitate partnerships and collaboration between 
authorities, organisations, communities, and groups 
to empower those who can make change

DRAFT
224



11

DRAFTDRAFT
225



DRAFT

12

It is important to us that we have an action plan to deliver on these priority outcomes, to tackle inactivity 
in our district and to continue to build upon the fantastic network of activities already on offer, providing 
opportunities for everyone to be more active, more often. 

The table below outlines how we aim to achieve this. 

Action plan  

Activity Area Theme How will we achieve this?

Active Society Ensure participation 
is affordable and 
accessible to the whole 
community

• Work with our leisure provider to ensure pricing 
structures are affordable 

• Ensure outreach activities are accessible in our rural 
communities

• Deliver activities in a range of locations across the 
district

• Work with partner organisations and local groups to 
facilitate sport and physical activity for people with 
disabilities and/or long term health conditions

Encourage physical 
activity as a holistic 
approach to wellbeing, 
including a focus on 
mental health

• Provide enhanced information around physical 
activity, diet and lifestyle as part of our core services

• Embrace the national mental health challenge, 
ensuring the Council places mental wellbeing at the 
heart of decision making

• Work with health partners to facilitate social 
prescribing within our communities

Active Place Invest in the Council’s 
leisure facilities to 
ensure that they meet 
the needs of customers

• Undertake consultation to understand the needs 
and demands of our residents and users of leisure 
facilities

• Invest in sustainable, high quality leisure facilities 
across the district

• Agree resource to develop detailed assessments of 
the Council’s leisure facilities to contribute towards 
the Council’s carbon reduction goals

• Recognise that our leisure services serve as part of 
a multi-disciplinary neighbourhood-based wellness 
network

Explore opportunities 
to use parks and open 
spaces within the 
district

• Promote use of open spaces, encouraging greater 
and wider use for physical activity, informal play and 
structured sport

• Maintain and enhance our green areas across the 
district 

• Work with partners on the Blue Green corridor 
project to deliver improvements to the parks in 
Grantham providing places to be active

• Develop links with partners and tourist information 
centres and promote and encourage use of green 
and open space as part of the visitor offer

226



13

DRAFT DRAFT
Activity Area Theme How will we achieve this?

Active People Support a broad range 
of sport and physical 
activity opportunities 
that reflect the interests 
and needs of the 
community and visitors 
to the district

• Ensure our leisure provider has a wide range of 
programmes and activities on offer

• Consult with residents about the types of activities 
they would like to see more of in their communities

• Strengthen the traditional sports offer by embracing 
new initiatives such as walking sports which enable 
others to be active

• Develop a programme of activities that provides 
opportunities for families to be active together

Work with the Council’s 
leisure provider 
and partners to run 
health intervention 
programmes that result 
in improved health 
and wellbeing for 
residents and deliver 
outreach activities in 
our communities

• Establish a programme of outreach activities in our 
communities 

• Develop a map of community assets that can be 
used to promote and enable physical activity 

• Work with health care networks to deliver targeted 
interventions

• Work with other Council teams and partners to 
promote health intervention schemes

Active System Recognise that 
physical activity is 
more than participation 
in sport and includes 
activities such as 
walking, dancing and 
gardening

• Positively promote all types of activity and ways of 
integrating these into the lifestyles of residents and 
in our communities

• Work with the County Council and other partners 
to support the active travel agenda – including 
improvements to infrastructure and pathways

• Develop relationships with strategic partners to 
ensure that opportunities to attract funding and 
collaboration on innovative projects in South 
Kesteven is realised

Facilitate partnerships 
and collaboration 
between authorities, 
organisations, 
communities, and 
groups to empower 
those who can make 
change

• Create innovative, robust and collaboration 
partnerships aimed at tackling inactivity

• Be part of the conversation with other districts 
- collectively working on a health and wellbeing 
strategy 

• Work with partners from all sectors to tackle health 
and other inequalities in areas of the highest need

• Celebrate and raise awareness of opportunities 
across South Kesteven using communications and 
social media channels 

227



14

Our Facilities
8	www.leisuresk.co.uk  

Links to Key Documents - References
1 Corporate Plan 2020-2023 – South Kesteven District Council 
2 UK Chief Medical Officers’ Physical Activity Guidelines – UK Government 
3 Benefits of Physical Activity – NHS England 
4 Uniting the Movement: A 10-year vision to transform lives and communities through 

sport and physical activity – Sport England
5 Active Lives Data – Sport England 
6 Local Authority Health Profiles – Public Health England 
7 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Lincolnshire Research Observatory 
8 Mental Health Problems Data - Mind
9 A Blueprint for Creating a More Active Lincolnshire – Lincolnshire’s Physical Activity 

Taskforce (LPAT)

DRAFT

228



15

Virtual Mini Olympics – Inspire+  
South Kesteven Sports Stadium is usually home to a  

thrilling 3 days of the Mini Olympics, organised by  
Local Sports Charity Inspire+. Due to restrictions, the last 2 

years have seen the festival take place virtually due  
to the impact of COVID-19. However, this meant young people 

could access the resources in their schools and at home,  
with over 1,213 views of the activity videos and 23,767 views 

and interactions through the charity’s social media  
channels. Despite restrictions still being in place,  

local young people could still take part in the  
annual event, be active and celebrate everything  

the Olympics encompasses.

DRAFT

DRAFT

229



Contact Details
Alternative formats are available on request: 

audio, large print and Braille
 

South Kesteven District Council
01476 406080 

Out of hours 01476 590044
*customerservices@southkesteven.gov.uk 

8www.southkesteven.gov.uk

DRAFT

230



Appendix 2 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Service Area: 
 
Leisure 

Lead officer:  
 
Emma Sharpe 
  

Date of Meeting  
 
19/11/21 

Assessors: 
 
Susie McCahon 
 

Neutral Assessor: 
 
Carol Drury 
 

231



 

 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 2021 – 2026  
 
This Strategy sets out the district’s vision, mission, aims and objectives for 
increasing rates of physical activity over the next five years.  
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2023) identifies Healthy and Strong 
Communities as a key priority. The Strategy sets out a positive vision and 
clear way forward to achieve much improved rates of physical activity 
amongst South Kesteven residents, reducing health inequalities and 
providing a platform to work collectively with partners.  
 
The Strategy has been developed in line with the Council’s Equality and 
Diversity Annual Position Statement and Safeguarding Policy. 
 
LeisureSK Ltd, as the leisure provider for the Council, has an Equality and 
Diversity Policy and Safeguarding Policy that is specific to leisure industry 
standards. This, however, does not remove the Council’s responsibilities 
under the Equality Act to ensure that fair and equitable services are 
provided to suit the needs of our residents and visitors. 
 
The Strategy outlines the Council’s role in ensuring opportunities to be 
active are accessible to all.  
 
The Strategy identifies and seeks to reduce health inequalities and remove 
any barriers to undertaking physical activity. Target groups have been 
identified in the Strategy including residents from priority wards (areas 
identified through the indices of multiple deprivation and those with 
recognised health inequalities), young people, older adults, and people 
with disabilities and long-term health conditions, including mental health. 
 

 
 
Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

232



 

 

 

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/ 
strategy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for 
each group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc 
is not relevant to a specific 
characteristic, please explain 
why   

Age 
 
 

Positive  This Strategy aims to provide 
opportunities for people to be 
active and encourage healthy, 
active lifestyles across all ages.  
 
There is a particular focus on 
priority groups who are shown to 
be less active or transitioning 
through stages in life where it is 
demonstrated there are 
increasing barriers to physical 
activity.  
 
Younger people and older adults 
are specifically referenced in the 
Strategy to provide more 
opportunities to be active and 
targeted interventions to facilitate 
physical activity. This is 
supported by Active Lives Survey 
data to highlight particular groups 
that are less active. 
 
For younger people, initiatives 
such as youth groups, youth gym 
membership and holiday clubs 
will form part of the offer.  
 
For older adults activities such as 
armchair exercises, group 
exercise, aqua classes, GP 
exercise referrals and walking 
programmes will be considered 
to increase levels of physical 
activity. 
 

233



 

 

 

Disability 
 

 

Positive The Strategy lists those living 
with disability and/ or long-term 
health conditions as a priority 
group for encouraging physical 
activity. This is because they may 
face additional barriers beyond 
their individual disability to 
physical activity such as lack of 
confidence, limited access to 
activities, equipment or facilities. 
The Strategy will consider 
activities that can increase the 
participation of people with 
disabilities and / or people living 
with long-term health conditions 
in physical activity.  
 
The Strategy focuses on a 
holistic approach to wellbeing 
which includes a focus on mental 
health and the positive benefits 
that physical activity can have. 
 
Working with health partners, the 
Council seeks to support 
interventions that provide 
opportunities to live a healthy, 
active lifestyle.  
 
The Council and its leisure 
provider recognise their roles and 
contribution to the health and 
wellbeing of residents by 
positively promoting and 
providing physical activity 
opportunities that are accessible 
to all. 
 

There is a focus on reducing 
health inequalities within the 
Strategy and it is recognised that 
those living with a disability or 
long-term health condition may 
have more barriers to exercise. 
The Strategy aims to reduce 
these barriers by providing more 
opportunities, working with health 
partners and local disability 
groups to ensure opportunities 
are available. This includes the 

234



 

 

 

provision of accessible changing 
facilities that are compliant with 
the Equalities Act (2010). 
 
Anyone requiring information in 
alternative format in order to 
participate will be provided with 
documents in their required 
format on request. 
 

Race 
 

Positive 
 
 

There may be barriers impacting 
the confidence of some people 
from black and other minority 
ethic communities to engage with 
physical activity, including 
language barriers. To reduce 
these barriers, anyone requiring 
information in an alternative 
language in order to participate 
will be provided with documents 
in their required language on 
request. 
 
There may be additional barriers 
to taking part in activity due to 
cultural beliefs, perceptions or 
traditions. A wide range of 
activities and sessions will be 
offered to encourage physical 
activity for all. 
 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Positive Trans people may face increased 
barriers to participating in 
physical activity because of lack 
of confidence, lack of inclusive 
activity on offer or perceived (or 
actual) lack of trans awareness 
amongst staff. The Strategy aims 
to reduce these barriers to sport 
and physical activity.  
 
In the practical delivery of the 
services and activities identified 
through the Strategy and its 
Action Plan, facilities will be 
available to those who identify as 
trans.  
 

235



 

 

 

Religion or 
Belief   

Positive The Strategy aims to provide 
opportunities for everyone to be 
more active, more often. This 
includes encouraging and 
facilitating a wide range of 
activities that will be accessible to 
all and provide activities 
appropriate for their religion / 
beliefs. 
 
There may be additional barriers 
to taking part in activity directly 
related to a person’s faith, belief, 
perceptions or traditions. A wide 
range of activities and sessions 
will be offered to encourage 
physical activity for all.  
 
In the practical delivery of 
activities consideration will be 
taken of religious days and 
holidays in order that the service 
will be equitably accessible to all. 
 

Sex 
 
 
   

Positive The Strategy aims to provide 
opportunities for everyone to be 
more active, more often, 
regardless of sex. One of the key 
themes of the Strategy is to 
ensure a programme that is 
made up of a broad range of 
activities that will appeal to 
everyone.  
 
In the practical delivery of the 
services and activities identified 
through the Strategy and its 
Action Plan, facilities will be 
available to those who do not 
identify by gender.  
 
There will be provision of 
activities that are gender neutral.  
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Positive  The Strategy aims to provide 
opportunities for everyone to be 
more active, more often.  
A broad range of activities will be 
promoted to raise physical 
activity levels of the lesbian, gay, 

236



 

 

 

bisexual, trans and queer 
/questioning (LGBTQ+) 
community. 
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Positive The Strategy aims to provide 
opportunities and encourage 
people to be active. This includes 
those that are pre-natal and post-
natal.  
 
The Council’s leisure provider will 
consider initiatives such as 
parent and toddler exercise 
classes and, where appropriate, 
fitness team members are trained 
to advise on exercise both during 
pregnancy and post-natal.  
 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Relates specifically to 
employment law, however, 
persons of all protected 
characteristics will be 
positively impact by 
providing opportunities for 
everyone to be more active, 
more often. 
 

The Strategy aims to increase 
levels of physical activity and 
have a positive impact across the 
protected characteristics of its 
identified user groups. 

Carers Positive Providing facilities and activities 
that aid the physical and mental 
wellbeing of those they care for 
will be a positive impact.  
 
As part of the Council’s pricing 
structure, carers accompany 
those they care for at no cost. 
 
The Strategy will consider 
alternative approaches to 
increase engagement with those 
who face barriers to taking part in 
physical activity because they 
have caring responsibilities. 
  

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 

Positive The Strategy specifically 
mentions rural communities and 
providing opportunities to be 
active locally. This involves the 
provision of outreach activities in 
villages whereby they may not 
have access to one of the 

237



 

 

 

those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Council’s leisure facilities or have 
to travel. Furthermore, the 
mapping of community assets 
and working with Active 
Lincolnshire to produce an 
activity finder will enable 
residents to find facilities and 
activities more easily. 
 
One of the clear outcomes of the 
Strategy is to work with the 
Council’s leisure provider to 
ensure there is a pricing policy 
and programme of activities that 
means the Council’s leisure 
facilities are accessible to all. The 
Council’s leisure facilities offering 
an accessible pricing policy will 
have a positive impact on people 
who daily face social and 
economic inequalities.  
 
Evidence shows that deprived 
areas tend to have lower levels of 
physical activity and as a result 
will also be a focus for outreach 
activities and interventions. This 
may be through the Council’s 
leisure provider or working with 
third party organisations and 
partners.  
 
The signposting and promotion of 
free activities e.g. use of open 
spaces, walking programmes and 
online resources will be 
considered to reduce the costs of 
activities.   
 

General 
comments 

The aim of the Strategy is to reduce health inequalities and 
enable all residents to participate and access opportunities to 
live a healthy, active lifestyle.  
 
As a result, many of the characteristics above provide a focus 
for the Strategy as it is recognised that these factors may 
provide barriers to residents being physically active currently. 
 
The Strategy is not limited to focusing on these characteristics, 
and health interventions will be targeted on highlighted areas of 
need. Some of these are mentioned within the Strategy and 

238



 

 

 

others will come about as a result of further conversations with 
National Health Service (NHS) partners, social prescribing 
teams, third sector groups and organisations.  
 
The intentions of the Strategy will be practically manifest 
through the Action Plan that accompanies the document and in 
real terms through the Service Provider and the accessible 
buildings it operates on behalf of the Council 
 

 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

The Strategy builds upon a series of consultations and drop-in sessions 
which initially took place in 2019 with a wide range of clubs, stakeholders 
and residents in the district. Further work has since taken place to expand 
the key themes and develop an accompanying action plan. 
 
In July and August 2021, more consultation took place with partner 
organisations to refresh the information gathered in 2019 and to agree 
priority outcomes and key themes.  
 
Quarterly meetings take place with Active Lincolnshire, the county’s Active 
Partnership, to discuss local projects and consider Active Lives Data which 
forms a framework for focusing on priority groups and areas, whereby 
levels of physical activity fall below the recommended average. 
 
Meetings have also been held with the local sports charity Inspire+ to 
consider how the Strategy impacts young people, and how best to 
encourage partnership working to achieve the mutual objective of getting 
young people more active, more often in South Kesteven.  
 
Further consultation has taken place with LeisureSK Ltd, as the Council’s 
current leisure provider, to consider how the Strategy aligns with the work it 
does and to identify further opportunities, both within the Council’s leisure 
facilities and in the local community. LeisureSK Ltd holds regular meetings 
and discussions with stakeholders and users of the leisure facilities.  
  

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 

There will be continuous discussion with both users of the Council’s leisure 
facilities and residents regarding the opportunities provided as part of the 
Sport and Physical Activity Strategy. This will take place through user 
forums at the leisure centres and informal drop-in sessions and surveys. 
 

239



 

 

 

The Council’s Leisure Officers will continue to work with Council 
colleagues, Members, National Health Service (NHS) partners and 
organisations to highlight priority groups who require focused physical 
activity interventions and opportunities to be active.  
 
The supporting Action Plan and it’s progress will be monitored on a six 
monthly basis via the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

  

 

 
 

240



 

 

 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Emma Sharpe 
(Name and title)   Leisure Officer 
  
Date completed:  19/11/21  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Senior Community Development Officer 
 
Date signed off:     22/11/21  

241



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
7 December 2021 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 29 November 2021 
to 28 November 2022 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Report Author 

Shelley Thirkell (Acting Principal Democratic Officer) 

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: shelley.thirkell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services) 16 November 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 29 November 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council) 29 November 2021 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

243

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

 (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

 with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

 publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to Council 

 or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on the Forward 

 Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

 consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 

 The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings 

 due to be held within the plan period. 

2.0 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

2.1 No implications.  

3.0 Appendices 

3.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan, 29 November 2021 to 28 November 2022. 

 

 

 

244



Appendix 1 

 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
29 November 2021 to 28 November 2022 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 
1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 

the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 

 
2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

245



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Council Tax Base 2022/23 – Recommend to Council 

To determine the Council Tax base to form 
the basis of the 2022/23 budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council.  
 

7 December 
2021 
 

To agree the Council 
Tax base 2022/23 
which will form the 
basis of the budget 
proposals for the year. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance 
(s151Officer)) 
E-mail: richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy. 
 

7 December 
2021 
 

To approve. 
 

Cabinet Member for Leisure  
(Councillor Barry Dobson) 
 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth & Culture) 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Asset Disposal Programme - Key Decision 

To determine a decision making procedure 
for the disposal of Council assets. 
 

7 December 
2021 
 

To approve.  
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property  
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance 
(s151Officer)) 
E-mail: richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Deepings Leisure Centre – Recommend to Council 

To consider the option to refurbish the 
Deepings Leisure Centre. 

7 December 
2021 
 

Make 
recommendations to 
full Council.  
 

Cabinet Member for Leisure  
(Councillor Barry Dobson) 
 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth & Culture) 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

246

mailto:richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Draft Budget Proposals for 2022/23 -  

To consider draft budget proposals for 
2022/23. 
 

13 January 
2022 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2022/23 
for consultation. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance 
(s151Officer)) 
E-mail: richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Stamford North Memorandum of Cooperation - Key Decision 

The Stamford North Memorandum of 
Understanding sets out the governance 
arrangements between South Kesteven 
District and Rutland County Council to bring 
forward the comprehensive development of 
the Stamford North Sustainable Urban 
Extension. The report and recommendation 
will be to approve and sign the MoC by the 
Council and formalise a governance 
structure. 

13 January 
2022 
 

To approve. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth & Culture) 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Voids Policy - Key Decision 

The policy details South Kesteven District 
Councils approach to managing void 
properties. 
 

13 January 
2022 
 

To approve the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property  
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing & Property) 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk   
 

Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek approval 
for the adoption of a compensation policy to 
be used across Housing Technical Services 
and Housing Services.  
 

13 January 
2022 
 

To approve the policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property (Councillor 
Robert Reid) 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing & Property) 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

247

mailto:richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Review of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy (English language skills test) - Key Decision 

Changes to the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Policy (English language skills 
test). 
 

13 January 
2022 
 

To approve.  
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing  
(Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial & Operations) 
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Future ways of working and making the best use of Corporate Assets - Key Decision 

To agree the Council’s approach to working 
arrangements following the Covid19 
pandemic, and the associated use of 
Corporate Assets. 
 

13 January 
2022 
 

To approve the 
approach.  
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property (Councillor 
Robert Reid) 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing & Property) 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Review of the Street Trading Policy - Key Decision 

To consider proposed updates to the Street 
Trading Policy. 
 

29 March 
2022 
 

To approve. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing  
(Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial & Operations) 
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Street Collection and House to House Collection Policy - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed new Street 
Collection and House to House Collection 
Policy. 
 

29 March 
2022 
 

To approve.  
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing  
(Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial & Operations) 
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 

248

mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North – Recommend to Council 

To consider the proposed development brief 
for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

19 Apr 2022 
 

To recommend to 
Council the draft 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
in respect of land at 
Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth & Culture) 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy. 
 

June 2022 
 

To adopt a Housing 
Asset management 
Strategy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property  
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing & Property) 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

249

mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23
	Appendix 1: Public consultation – key findings
	Appendix 2: Lincolnshire County Council consultation response
	Appendix 3: Police and Crime Commissioner consultation response
	Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment

	5 Council Tax Base 2022/23
	Appendix A - 2022-23 Council Tax Base by Parish

	6 Deepings Leisure Centre Options
	6b Deepings Leisure Centre Options - Exempt appendices
	Appendix 2 - Paul Weston Refurbishment Options Report
	Appendix 3 -  Paul Weston Supplemental Information
	Appendix 4 - SLC Refurbishment Options Business Case Report

	7 Asset Disposal Programme to Support Growth
	8 Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Analysis - Sport and Physical Activity Strategy

	10 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	Appendix 1 - Cabinet's Forward Plan 29 November 2021 - 28 November 2022


